
 

 
 

Place and Resources Scrutiny Committee 
 
Date: Wednesday, 17 January 2024 
Time: 10.00 am 
Venue: Council Chamber, County Hall, Dorchester, DT1 1XJ 
 

Members (Quorum: 3)  
Shane Bartlett (Chairman), Andy Canning (Vice-Chairman), Rod Adkins, Jon Andrews, 
Piers Brown, Barry Goringe, Brian Heatley, David Shortell, David Tooke and Bill Trite 
 
Chief Executive: Matt Prosser, County Hall, Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1XJ  
 
For more information about this agenda please contact Democratic Services  
Meeting Contact  01305 252209 / lindsey.watson@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting, apart from any items listed in 
the exempt part of this agenda. 
 
For easy access to all the council’s committee agendas and minutes download the free 
public app called Modern.Gov for use on any iPad, Android, and Windows tablet.  Once 
downloaded select Dorset Council. 
 
 
 

Agenda 
 
Item  Pages 

 
1.   APOLOGIES 

 
 

 To receive any apologies for absence. 
 

 

2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

 

 To disclose any pecuniary, other registrable or non-registrable interests 
as set out in the adopted Code of Conduct. In making their disclosure 
councillors are asked to state the agenda item, the nature of the 
interest and any action they propose to take as part of their declaration. 
 
If required, further advice should be sought from the Monitoring Officer 
in advance of the meeting. 
 

 

3.   MINUTES 
 

5 - 14 

 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 9 November 2023.  

Public Document Pack



 

 
4.   PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

 
 

 Representatives of town or parish councils and members of the public 
who live, work, or represent an organisation within the Dorset Council 
area are welcome to submit either 1 question or 1 statement for each 
meeting.  You are welcome to attend the meeting in person or via MS 
Teams to read out your question and to receive the response.   If you 
submit a statement for the committee this will be circulated to all 
members of the committee in advance of the meeting as a supplement 
to the agenda and appended to the minutes for the formal record but 
will not be read out at the meeting. The first 8 questions and the first 
8 statements received from members of the public or 
organisations for each meeting will be accepted on a first come 
first served basis in accordance with the deadline set out below.  
Further information read Public Participation - Dorset Council  
 
All submissions must be emailed in full to 
lindsey.watson@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk  by 8.30am on 12 January 2024. 
 
When submitting your question or statement please note that:  
 
• You can submit 1 question or 1 statement. 
• a question may include a short pre-amble to set the context.  
• It must be a single question and any sub-divided questions will 

not be permitted. 
• Each question will consist of no more than 450 words, and you 

will be given up to 3 minutes to present your question.  
• when submitting a question please indicate who the question is 

for (e.g., the name of the committee or Portfolio Holder)  
• Include your name, address, and contact details.  Only your 

name will be published but we may need your other details to 
contact you about your question or statement in advance of the 
meeting.  

• questions and statements received in line with the council’s 
rules for public participation will be published as a supplement to 
the agenda.  

• all questions, statements and responses will be published in full 
within the minutes of the meeting. 

 

 

5.   QUESTIONS FROM COUNCILLORS 
 

 

 To receive questions submitted by councillors.   
  
Councillors can submit up to two valid questions at each meeting and 
sub divided questions count towards this total.   Questions and 
statements received will be published as a supplement to the agenda 
and all questions, statements and responses will be published in full 
within the minutes of the meeting.  
  
The submissions must be emailed in full to 
lindsey.watson@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk by 8.30am on 12 January 2024.  

 

https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/mgGeneric.aspx?MD=mgPublicParticipation
mailto:lindsey.watson@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
mailto:lindsey.watson@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk


 

  
Dorset Council Constitution – Procedure Rule 13 
 

6.   BUDGET AND MEDIUM-TERM FINANCIAL PLAN STRATEGY 
REPORT 
 

15 - 80 

 To receive a report of the Corporate Director for Finance and 
Commercial. 
 

 

7.   PLACE AND RESOURCES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK 
PROGRAMME 
 

81 - 84 

 To consider the committee’s work programme. 
 

 

8.   EXECUTIVE FORWARD PLANS 
 

85 - 116 

 To consider the Executive arrangement forward plans. 
 

 

9.   URGENT ITEMS 
 

 

 To consider any items of business which the Chairman has had prior 
notification and considers to be urgent pursuant to section 100B (4) b) 
of the Local Government Act 1972. The reason for the urgency shall be 
recorded in the minutes. 
 

 

10.   EXEMPT BUSINESS 
 

 

 To move the exclusion of the press and the public for the following item 
in view of the likely disclosure of exempt information within the 
meaning of paragraph x of schedule 12 A to the Local Government Act 
1972 (as amended). The public and the press will be asked to leave 
the meeting whilst the item of business is considered.   
 
There are no exempt items scheduled for this meeting. 
 

 

 
 

https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=433&Year=0&info=1&MD=constitution


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

PLACE AND RESOURCES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON THURSDAY 9 NOVEMBER 2023 
 

Present: Cllrs Shane Bartlett (Chairman), Andy Canning (Vice-Chairman), 
Jon Andrews, Piers Brown, Barry Goringe, Brian Heatley and Bill Trite 
 
Apologies: Cllrs Rod Adkins, David Shortell and David Tooke 
 
Also present: Cllr Ray Bryan, Cllr Simon Gibson, Cllr Jill Haynes, Cllr Molly Rennie, 
Cllr Jane Somper and Cllr David Taylor 
 
Also present remotely: Cllr Laura Beddow 

 
Officers present (for all or part of the meeting): 
John Sellgren (Executive Director of Place), Aidan Dunn (Executive Director - 
Corporate Development S151), Jonathan Mair (Director of Legal and Democratic and 
Monitoring Officer), John Newcombe (Service Manager for Licensing & Community 
Safety), Nick Webster (Head of Growth and Economic Regeneration), Jon Bird 
(Service Manager for Growth and Economic Regeneration), Amanda Park (Tourism 
Team Manager), Antony Littlechild (Sustainability Team Manager), Wendy Carmichael 
(Corporate Sustainability Officer), Bridget Betts (Environmental Advice Manager), 
Owen Clark (Strategic and Policy Team Manager), Gemma Clinton (Head of 
Commercial Waste and Strategy), Roderick Mainstone (Street Lighting Team Leader), 
Darren Orchard (Transport Projects Officer), Gordon Sneddon (Service Manager for 
Travel Operations), Neil Turner (Service Manager for Network Operations), David 
Bonner (Service Manager for Business Intelligence and Performance), Tony Bygrave 
(Senior Assurance Officer - Complaints), Marc Eyre (Service Manager for Assurance), 
Chris Matthews (Head of Human Resources), James Potten (Communications 
Business Partner - Place), Lindsey Watson (Senior Democratic Services Officer) and 
John Miles (Democratic Services Officer) 
 
Officers present remotely (for all or part of the meeting): 
Carl Warom (Climate and Ecological Policy and Project Manager), Michael Hansford 
(Highways Assets Manager), Michael Moon (Head of Waste Operations), Timothy 
Woolford (Service Manager for Fleet Maintenance), Anna Eastgate (Corporate Director 
- Place Services), Matthew Piles (Corporate Director - Economic Growth and 
Infrastructure) and Steven Ford (Corporate Director for Transformation, Innovation, 
Digital, and Environment) 

 
32.   Minutes 

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 12 September 2023 were confirmed as a 
correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



2 

33.   Declarations of interest 
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

34.   Chairman's Update 
 
The Chairman reported that there was one update for the meeting. 
 
An update relating to ‘Summer Demand 2023’, which had been provided by the 
Head of Community Protection, was read out by the Service Manager Licensing 
and Community Safety. The text of the update provided is included at Appendix 1. 
 
The Chairman thanked officers for the work that had been undertaken and noted 
that the experience during the Covid-19 Pandemic had provided different working 
methods and learning for the council and partners, which would assist with 
improved performance moving forward. The Chairman noted that the updates 
received by the committee had provided assurance in this area and that this issue 
could be signed off by the committee. 
 

35.   Public Participation 
 
There were no questions or statements from members of the public or local 
organisations. 
 

36.   Questions from Councillors 
 
There were no questions from councillors. 
 

37.   Review of Dorset Council's Tourism Service 
 
At the request of the committee, councillors received and considered a report of 
the Service Manager, Growth and Economic Development, which provided an 
overview of how Dorset Council was driving and supporting its visitor economy 
through the work undertaken by the tourism team, Visit Dorset. The report 
provided information on the infrastructure in place to support the work and outlined 
the importance of tourism to Dorset’s economy. 
 
The supporting presentation provided at the meeting provided an overview of the 
key points covered in the report. 
 
Councillors considered the issues raised within the report and during discussion, 
points were covered in the following areas: 
 

• Detail of the membership model and promotion undertaken 

• Work to promote attractions and towns in inland areas including work with 
Portland Port connected to visiting cruise ships 

• The need to consider opportunities for income generation including through 
use of the council’s assets 

• Detail of support provided to particular town councils and business 
improvement districts (BIDs) to promote their own towns was reported and 
positive feedback that had been received 

Page 6



3 

• The role of the Dorset Tourism Association (DTA) was noted and how it 
provided a link between the councils and businesses involved in delivering 
tourism services 

• The issues and benefits related to Local Visitor Economy Partnerships 
(LVEP) were discussed 

• An assurance was sought that Dorset would receive a fair share of any 
funding secured by being part of a potential LVEP. This was acknowledged 
by the Portfolio Holder 

• Labour and skills challenges within the visitor economy were recognised 
and work was being undertaken with local colleges and universities to 
ensure that relevant courses were available to link in with areas of skills 
shortages. A Dorset Local Skills Improvement Plan had been developed 
and the subject of skills was a regular matter for discussion at the South 
West Tourism Partnership 

• A suggestion was made that focus groups could be held to try and 
understand the reasons for people not visiting Dorset.  In addition, it was 
noted that funding had been received to look at barriers to people visiting 
Dorset 

• Various highways matters were raised including issues around car parking, 
the impact of changes to the Department for Transport criteria for traffic 
sensitive routes and issues around highways maintenance and utility works 
during peak holiday periods 

• Points regarding the council’s former provision of tourist information centres 
were raised and the current position with how information was being 
provided by town councils / business improvement districts (BIDs) noted, 
with differing views expressed as to the provision of the service. 

 
At the conclusion of the discussion, the Chairman outlined his thoughts for how a 
review in this area could be progressed. He suggested that himself, the Vice-
chairman and four members of the committee meet with officers to scope a 
potential review to consider opportunities for income generation and to draw in the 
views and experience of the wider Council membership. This would be a longer-
term review for the next Council term. 
 
A discussion was held as to the potential areas to be included within a review and 
the possible challenges. 
 
The Monitoring Officer noted that there was a need to consider the council’s 
commerciality across wider themes and that this should include considering the 
most appropriate way for services to be provided. 
 
The Executive Director of Place recognised the valuable piece of work. Officers 
and the Portfolio Holder could provide input on the scope for the review and there 
could be consideration of best practice elsewhere and the extent to which tourism 
support should be funded through local taxes. 
 
The Executive Director of Corporate Development noted the council’s current 
financial position and supported a broader review of income generation across the 
council linked to the Our Future Council transformation programme. 
 

Page 7



4 

Following the discussion, it was agreed by the committee that a task and finish 
group of six committee members (to include the Chairman and Vice-chairman) be 
formed to explore opportunities for income generation in tourism through a future 
review. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
The Chairman announced that there would be a short adjournment at this point in 
the meeting. The committee adjourned at 11:43am. 
 
Councillor W Trite left the meeting at this point. 
 
The committee returned at 11:56am. 
 

38.   Natural Environment, Climate and Ecology Progress Report, 
Autumn/Winter 2023 
 
The committee received a report of the Sustainability Team Manager which 
provided quantitative reporting on the consequent changes to the council and 
county emissions trajectory. 
 
Councillors considered the issues arising from the report and during discussion, 
points were raised in the following areas: 
 

• The presentation of information, including use of graphs, in the report 
provided improved clarity of data and trends 

• The figures showed the council was being an exemplar in this area 
although it was noted that there was scope for further improvements in 
relation to both council and county figures 

• Information on the Local Nature Recovery Strategy was provided 

• Further work needed to be undertaken on the analysis of lifetime carbon 
emissions and be considered as part of decisions taken 

• Issues around the council’s fleet were considered, including types of 
vehicles used and how emissions were recorded and could be reduced. 
The council had to plan ahead in this area, but it was noted that technology 
was developing 

• Issues around agriculture and methane emissions were noted 

• Points were raised on the condition of Dorset’s ecological network and work 
underway to improve habitats. Mapping work was being undertaken. 

 
At this point in the meeting, it was proposed by J Andrews seconded by B Heatley 
and agreed by the committee, that the meeting continue beyond the 3-hour limit as 
set out in the Constitution. 
 
Discussion continued with points raised in the following areas: 
 

• Business mileage and the positioning of vehicles and electric charging 
points across the council area were noted 

• Projects to plant trees on council owned land and for sea grass protection 
were being considered 

Page 8



5 

• The importance of Dorset Council working with town and parish councils in 
this area was recognised and detail of work being undertaken with the 
Dorset Association of Parish and Town Councils was provided 

• Information on the carbon strategy in the highways team was provided. 
 
The Chairman thanked officers for the report and for the attendance of contributing 
officers from across teams in the council. 
 
A short adjournment was held at the conclusion of the item. 
 
Councillors J Andrews and B Goringe left the meeting at this point. 
 
The meeting returned at 1.26pm. 
 

39.   Performance Scrutiny 
 
The committee considered the performance dashboard and highlighted some 
areas of interest. These included: 
 

• Short- and long-term sickness levels and turnover across the council – a 
discussion would take place during the exempt part of the agenda 

• Number of staff non-reportable accidents and number of near misses 
reported in the Place directorate – The Executive Director of Place noted 
that work had been undertaken to encourage staff to report near misses 
and issues before they became a problem, which was reflected in higher 
numbers being reported in the performance dashboard 

• % of Council Tax and Business Rates collected – an update had been 
provided by the Corporate Director Financial and Commercial which noted 
that during the financial years 2020-21, 2021-22 and 2022-23, a significant 
amount of grants and reliefs had been awarded due to the Covid-19 
Pandemic and as a result the net collectable business rates were 
significantly reduced. This years figures would be better compared with pre-
pandemic figures from 2019-20 and which showed that the position this 
year was slightly ahead in comparison. 

 
40.   Corporate Complaints Team Annual Report 2022-23 

 
Councillors received a report of the Senior Assurance Officer Complaints, which 
provided the committee with an update on the numbers, types and outcomes of 
complaints made against services in Dorset Council during 2022/23. 
 
Councillors discussed the issues arising from the report and discussion covered 
the following areas: 
 

• A point was raised about the targets set in this area and whether the format 
of the data needed to be reviewed 

• Information provided an opportunity to show how the council was 
addressing complaints and provided a focus on learning and the 
implementation of change where required 

 
Councillor P Brown left the meeting at this point. 

Page 9



6 

 

• The referral of some complaints to the Local Government Ombudsman, 
provided an independent assessment of the action being taken by the 
council 

• There had been an increase in the number of complaints being dealt with 
by the team 

• Levels of councillor code of conduct complaints received were considered 
and information provided on work being undertaken with the Dorset 
Association of Parish and Town Councils to identify issues and potential 
areas for training 

• Support provided to officers in the Complaints Team was discussed. 
 
The Chairman thanked the Senior Assurance Officer Complaints and asked that 
the thanks of the committee also be passed to all team members. 
 

41.   Place and Resources Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 
 
Councillors reviewed the committee’s work programme and noted items to be 
considered at forthcoming meetings. The next meeting of the committee would be 
held on 17 January 2024 and would be the committee’s Budget meeting. 
 

42.   Cabinet Forward Plan and Decisions 
 
Councillors considered the Cabinet Forward Plan and decisions of the meetings 
held on 5 September and 3 October 2023, which the committee could use to 
identify potential areas for post decision review. 
 
In addition, the committee noted the forward plan for the Shareholder Committee 
for the Dorset Centre of Excellence. 
 

43.   Urgent items 
 
There were no urgent items. 
 

44.   Exempt Business 
 
It was proposed by A Canning seconded by B Heatley 
 
Decision 
 
That in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the 
public be excluded from the meeting for the business specified in item No 15 
because it is likely that if members of the public were present there would be 
disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of 
schedule 12A to the Act and the public interest in withholding the information 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information to the public. The public 
and the press will be asked to leave the meeting whilst the item of business is 
considered.  
 

Page 10



7 

Reason for taking the item in private Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority 
holding that information). 
 
The live streaming of the meeting was concluded at this point. 
 

45.   Employee turnover in Dorset Council - Exempt 
 
The committee received an exempt report of the Head of Human Resources with 
regard to workforce turnover rates. 
 
Councillors considered the issues arising from the report and following discussion 
 
Decision 
 
That the committee supports the action being taken as set out in the report. 
 
APPENDIX 1 - CHAIRMAN'S UPDATE 
 

SUMMER DEMAND 2023 
 

1. Since the Covid-19 pandemic, your committee has overseen the Council’s 
response to additional demand placed on services and those of its partners 
from increased visitor numbers to Dorset. This has been valuable engagement 
and has highlighted areas of good practice which have been incorporated into 
‘business as usual’. It has also highlighted areas where the Council could work 
better and these areas have been addressed. 
 

2. At your meeting on 26 January 2023, a report was presented which reviewed 
summer 2022 and outlined plans for managing visitor numbers this summer. 
Your committee asked to receive a briefing note to feedback on this year’s 
summer before stepping back from the issue. 

 
3. With no Covid-19 foreign travel restrictions and mixed summer weather in the 

UK, visitor numbers were more akin to pre-Covid 19 summers. That said, it is 
the case that holiday destinations such as Dorset were to an extent 
rediscovered due to the travel restrictions and this is hoped will bring continued 
benefit to the local economy. 

 
4. This summer, the Council again operated the multi-agency Summer Demand 

Group (SDG) through the peak months. The Group provided effective 
coordination of services and through its links with the Council’s Safety Advisory 
Group, anticipated the implications of upcoming events so that appropriate 
resources were deployed. It is intended to continue with this approach in future 
summer seasons. 

 
5. During the pandemic, the Council provided a multi-agency command centre via 

a contractor to ensure swift and effective communications at times of peak 
demand. This was funded by Government grant (Covid Outbreak Management 
Fund or COMF). This summer, call handling was managed by the Council’s 

Page 11



8 

Customer Contact Centre which performed very well and reported into the 
SDG. Again, this approach will be utilised going forward. 

 
6. There was a final allocation of funding from the COMF of £160,000. This has 

been allocated to the following; 
 

Coastal town council visitor 
management 

£25,000 

Additional toilet attendants and 
cleaning 

£15,000 

Extended operation of the gypsy & 
traveller transit site 

£10,000 

Additional community safety patrols £37,000 

Extended daytime CCTV monitoring £10,000 

Extended Safe Space provision in 
Weymouth 

£35,000 

Traffic Management £6,000 

Additional Waste Management £15,000 

Miscellaneous £7,000 

Total £160,000 

 
All of the above activities have been well received and contributed to a 
successful summer. There will be no funding from COMF next year so it is 
important to focus on what we can continue to achieve at low or no cost (such 
as the SDG and Customer Contact Centre). 
 

7. Visitor numbers this summer were thought to be around a pre-Covid season 
and as mentioned above, the season passed off well from SDG partners 
perspectives. Whilst there was no Great Dorset Steam Fair, other events 
including The Kings Coronation, Camp Bestival and the Dorset Show all went 
well with one or two events falling foul of wet and stormy weather. Dorset 
attracted some new events such as the We Out Here Festival at Wimborne St. 
Giles and it is testament to Dorset’s offer that the Safety Advisory Group 
engaged with over 300 events this summer (not including the numerous 
coronation celebrations in the spring). Forty-two of this year’s main events had 
attendances of over a thousand people.  Looking ahead to next year the SAG 
is already engaging with three new events, all with proposed attendances of up 
to five thousand people. 
 

8. The additional funding permitted an expansion of the Community Safety Patrol 
Scheme and allowed for mobile patrols to be deployed outside of the 
Weymouth and Portland area for the first time. Officers attended locations as 
far afield as Shaftesbury and West Bexington. The Community Safety Patrol 
Team averaged around 400 hours of patrolling per month, attended an average 
of 28 ASB related incidents per month and dealt with an average of 68 rough 
sleepers each month also. During the peak months of August and September 
alcohol was seized from a total of 8 individuals causing anti-social behaviour 
within areas covered by Public Space Protection Orders.  

 
9. The CCTV Control Room also benefitted from additional funding which 

facilitated an extension of operating hours beyond the 16:00hrs to 04:00hrs 

Page 12



9 

standard operating times. This benefitted those areas covered by CCTV 
(Weymouth & Portland, Bridport & Dorchester as well as the County Hospital 
and Highways cameras). This meant our controllers were able to liaise with the 
police on a number of high profile incidents and provide coverage to the police 
control room to help enable effective responses. 

 
10. The Safe Space Project in Weymouth Town Centre also benefitted from 

additional funding helping provide a safe haven for those in need during the 
night-time economy. It was well attended and working with our security and 
medical partners, as well as St Mary’s Church and the Weymouth Street 
Pastors, promotes the Council’s efforts to keep women and girls safe in 
Weymouth in particular. 
 

11. Planning for next spring and summer is already underway with the Safety 
Advisory Group  encouraging timely submission of event management plans 
and supporting new events to Dorset. The Summer Demand Group will 
convene ahead of the season to ensure that the good practice that has 
resulted will be carried forward into future years. Officers are appreciative of 
your Committee’s involvement in helping Dorset to be an attractive and safe 
place for residents and visitors. 

 
 

Duration of meeting: 10.00 am - 2.34 pm 
 
 
Chairman 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

People & Health Scrutiny Committee & 

Place and Resources Scrutiny Committee 

12 & 17 January 2024 

Budget and Medium-Term Financial Plan 
strategy report 
 

For Review and Consultation  

Portfolio Holder:  Cllr G Suttle, Finance, Commercial & Capital Strategy  
 
Local Councillor(s): All 

Executive Director: A Dunn, Executive Director, Corporate Development  
     
Report Author:   Sean Cremer  
Title:    Corporate Director for Finance and Commercial 
Tel:    (01305) 228685 
Email:    sean.cremer@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 
 
Report Status:  Public 

 
Recommendation: 
The Scrutiny Committees are asked to review and comment on the budget 
proposals set out in the draft Cabinet report attached at Appendix 1 to this 
covering report and provide any feedback to Cabinet in time for responses to be 
included in the report being considered on 30 January 2024. 
 
Reason for Recommendation: 
The Council is required to set a balanced revenue budget, and to approve a level 
of council tax as an integral part of this.  A balanced budget is essentially one 
where all expenditure is funded by income without unsustainable use of one-off 
or short-term sources of finance. 
 
Part of the approval process includes the budget proposals being considered 
formally by Scrutiny Committees prior to Cabinet approval. 
 
1. Executive summary 

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 6



 

 

1.1 This report sets out proposals for Dorset Council’s 2024/25 revenue and 
capital budgets and summarises the medium-term financial plan (MTFP), 
which covers the following three years to 2027/28.   
 

1.2 The budget proposals are built around the priorities identified in the Dorset 
Council Plan. 

 
1.3 This budget continues to reflect members’ priorities of resource allocation 

into front line services wherever possible and this is reflected in the areas 
of growth set out in the analysis in this paper.  

 
1.4 In recent years, the Council’s budget setting has taken place against a 

backdrop of a pandemic.  Whilst the prominence of this global event may 
have waned, the impact is still being felt, not only through the virus still 
presenting itself and causing serious illness and death, but also in the 
aftermath of health and care systems coping with the continuing impact 
and the emerging arrangements, post-pandemic. 

 
1.5 This budget is being set against a global economic backdrop of high 

inflation, economic volatility, a cost-of-living crisis and industrial action 
across many public services. 

 
2. Financial implications 

 
2.1 All covered within the Cabinet report. 

 
3. Natural Environment, Climate & Ecology implications 

 
3.1 All covered within the Cabinet report. 

 
4. Well-being and health implications  

 
4.1  None specifically identified in the Cabinet report. 

 
5. Other implications 

 
5.1 None specific. 

 
6. Risk Assessment 

 
6.1 HAVING CONSIDERED: the risks associated with this decision; the level 

of risk has been identified as: 
Current Risk:  High 
Residual Risk:  High 

 
7. Equalities Impact Assessment 

Page 16

https://dorsetcc-my.sharepoint.com/personal/kate_critchel_dorsetcouncil_gov_uk/Documents/New%20folder%20(2)/There#Equalities


 

 

 
7.1 The budget is a framework for the Council to achieve its priorities and the 

requirement to achieve a balanced budget is delivered through a number 
of key assumptions, and the delivery of programmes of transformational 
change. 
 

7.2 The overall budget framework has not been the subject of a separate 
equality impact assessment but the programmes and changes upon which 
delivery of the budget will depend will themselves be assessed. 

 
8. Appendices 

 
8.1 Appendix 1 – Draft Cabinet report on budget and MTFP strategy  

 
9. Background Papers 

 
9.1 None 
 
 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet 

30 January 2024 

Budget and Medium-Term Financial Plan 
strategy report (MTFP) 
 

For Recommendation to Council 

Portfolio Holder:   Cllr G Suttle, Finance, Commercial and Capital Strategy 
 
Local Councillor(s): All 

Executive Director: A Dunn, Executive Director, Corporate Development  
     
Report Author:   Aidan Dunn 
Job Title:   Executive Director – Corporate Development (S151  
    Officer) 
Tel:    01305 221000 
Email:    aidan.dunn@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 
 
Report Status:  Public 

Recommendation: 
 
Cabinet is asked to agree and to recommend to Council: 

1. the Revenue Budget summarised in Appendix 1;  

2. the increase in general Council Tax of 2.9985% and 1.9975% in the Social Care 
Precept, providing a Band D Council Tax figure for Dorset Council of £2,001.15; 
an overall increase of 4.996%; 

3. to note the Council Tax base agreed by the S151 Officer earlier in this budget 
setting process; 

4. The change to the current scheme of Local Council Tax Support as set out in 
this report, which reflects the decision previously made at full Council on  
14 December 2023; 

5. the Capital Strategy set out in Appendix 3 and approve changes to the 
programme in section 23; 

6. the Treasury Management Strategy set out in Appendix 4; 

7. to note the assumptions used to develop the Budget Strategy and Medium-Term 
Financial Plan (MTFP), as set out throughout this report; 

Page 19



8. the recommended balances on earmarked reserves and on general funds, 
including the minimum level of the general fund. 

9. in making these recommendations, Cabinet is requested to consider and agree 
the responses to the recommendations and comments made as part of the 
budget scrutiny process (Appendix 6) [available for Cabinet]; 

10. recommendations 1-5 from the 22 November 2023 Harbours Advisory 
Committee meeting regarding fees and charges, budgets and asset 
management plans (Appendix 7); 

11. agree and recommend to Council the flexible use of additional £3.3m of capital 
receipts for the purposes of transforming the Council’s asset portfolio over the 
next three to five years (Appendix 8).  Work with DLUHC is ongoing to confirm 
this. [available for Cabinet] 

Reason for Recommendation 

The Council is required to set a balanced revenue budget, and to approve a level of 
Council Tax as an integral part of this.  A balanced budget is essentially one where 
all expenditure is funded by income without unsustainable use of one-off or short-
term sources of finance. 

The Council is also required to approve a Capital Strategy, a capital programme and 
budget, and a Treasury Management Strategy, each of which are included with this 
report. 

The draft budget proposals have been considered by the Place and Resources 
Scrutiny Committee and by the People and Health Scrutiny Committee and their 
recommendations are set out in Appendix 6 for Cabinet consideration. 

  

Page 20



1. Executive summary  

1.1 This report sets out proposals for Dorset Council’s 2024/25 revenue and 
capital budgets and summarises the Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP), 
which covers the following four years to 2028/29.  The report also includes 
the Capital Strategy and the Treasury Management Strategy. 

1.2 The budget proposals are built around the priorities identified in the Dorset 
Council Plan and [were] considered by the Dorset Council Scrutiny 
Committees on 12 and 17 January 2024.  This paper contains details of 
Cabinet’s responses to the matters raised by those committees. 

1.3 This budget continues to reflect members’ priorities of resource allocation into 
frontline services wherever possible and this is reflected in the areas of 
growth set out in the analysis in this paper.   

1.4 This budget is being set against a global economic backdrop of significant 
inflation, economic volatility and a cost-of-living crisis. 

1.5 This paper also provides an update on funding announced in the Local 
Government Finance Settlement issued on 18 December 2023. 

2. Financial implications 

All covered within the report.  

3. Well-being and health implications 

None specifically identified in this report. 

4. Natural Environment, Climate & Ecology Implications 

Included in Appendix 5. 

5. Other Implications 

Nothing specific. 

6. Risk assessment 

6.1 Having considered the risks associated with this decision, the level of risk has 
been identified as: 

Current Risk: High 
Residual Risk: High 

6.2 The Council is required to set a balanced budget.  The financial climate 
remains extremely challenging, and the risks therefore remain high for all 
local authorities as we aim to deliver value for money and financial 
sustainability in a highly volatile environment. 
 

Page 21



6.3 The Council is currently forecasting an overspend in 2023/24.  The Quarter 3 
financial management report provides analysis of that estimate and [will be] a 
separate item on the same Cabinet agenda as this report. 
 

6.4 The provisional Local Government Finance Settlement was published on 18 
December 2024 and, though the Council is still working through the detail of 
some contained within this, headline conclusions and assumptions are set 
out in this report. 
 

6.5 The short-term nature of the settlement is again a risk and affects our ability 
to plan for strategic service delivery in the longer term.  This Council 
continues to call for a longer-term, multi-year settlement which would provide 
greater certainty over resource levels. 
 

6.6 Despite the mitigations and the governance framework around strategic and 
financial performance that the Council has in place, the S151 Officer deems 
the risk still to be high which, despite Dorset’s robust financial position 
relative to others, principally reflects the national picture and economic 
conditions affecting all local authorities.  Pressures continue to build in the 
Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP) and around the High Needs Block 
(HNB) of the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG). 
 

7. Equalities impact assessment 

7.1 The budget is a framework for the Council to achieve its priorities and the 
requirement to achieve a balanced budget is delivered through a number of 
key assumptions, and the delivery of programmes of transformational 
change.   
 

7.2 The overall budget framework has not been the subject of a separate equality 
impact assessment but the programmes and changes upon which delivery of 
the budget will depend will themselves be assessed. 
 

8. Appendices 

1. High-level consolidated revenue budget summary and directorate budget 
summaries 

2. Council Tax resolution (for the Council report only) 

3. Capital Strategy 2024-2029 (for the Cabinet and Council reports) 

4. Treasury Management Strategy 2024/25 (for the Cabinet and Council 
reports) 

5. Climate Wheel  

6. Response to the issues raised by the scrutiny committees (for the Cabinet 
and Council report) 

7. Harbours Advisory Committee budget proposals for 2024/25 

Page 22



8. Flexible use of Capital Receipts Policy for 2024/25-2029/30 [available for 
Cabinet] 

9. Background papers 

Medium term financial plan and budget update to Cabinet 7 November 2023 

 

10. Introduction, context and priorities 

10.1 The refreshed Dorset Council Plan 2022-24 was agreed by Council in 
October 2022. The plan is underpinned by five key priorities for 2022-24 and 
details the steps we will take to deliver our vision to make Dorset a great 
place to live, work and visit. 

10.2 Driving economic prosperity - We will support sustainable economic 
growth across the county, enabling high-quality jobs through improvements to 
productivity, sustainability, and accessibility, creating great places to live, 
work and visit. 

10.3 Creating stronger, healthier communities - We will enable our residents, 
working with partners, to develop strong networks of support and maintain 
strong communities. We will focus on the most vulnerable in our communities 
to improve wellbeing and reduce inequality through collaboration between 
public services, community leaders, residents and voluntary groups. 

10.4 Creating sustainable development and housing - We will work with 
government, registered housing providers, community land trusts and local 
housing partners to deliver affordable, suitable and decent housing. We will 
ask for their support to help us promote our climate and ecological priorities 
by providing sustainable services such as rainwater harvesting, solar panels 
and other such approaches. 

10.5 Protecting our natural environment, climate and ecology - We will 
improve access to, and use of, Dorset’s environment in a sustainable way 
which protects it for future generations. 

10.6 Becoming a more responsive, customer focused council - We will 
continue to be responsive, fair and efficient in how we deliver services to our 
customers by listening and learning from their experiences. We will strive to 
constantly improve, with an emphasis on innovation and working with you in a 
collaborative approach. 

10.7 Aligned to the Dorset Council Plan, Cabinet has approved the Transformation 
Plan, which described the approach that the Council is taking to redesigning 
services, so that the Council’s priorities can be met with the funding available. 

10.8 The challenge for 2024/25 and beyond continues to be ‘How will the Council 
achieve a balanced budget whilst continuing to provide high quality services 
for the residents of Dorset?’. 

Page 23

https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/documents/g5659/Public%20reports%20pack%2007th-Nov-2023%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10
https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/documents/g5659/Public%20reports%20pack%2007th-Nov-2023%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10


11. Environmental volatility and uncertainty and budget assumptions 

11.1 Since 2021, inflation has proven extremely volatile, which continues to make 
it extremely difficult to estimate how current and future inflation and other 
global events will impact local authorities.  However, we are required by law 
to set a balanced budget and we must build our MTFP and Budget Strategy 
with the best information and knowledge we have available and with 
clarification around the risks involved and the mitigations supporting them. 

11.2 It should be noted that these are forecasts of what will happen are on top of 
the base budget that was built for 2024/25.   

11.3 The approach to inflation for 2024/25 has been to include pay inflation of 5% 
and to add general inflation of 3.2%.  The Council expects a continuation of 
good contract management practice with suppliers to ensure productivity, 
efficiency and sustainability are also reviewed at the same time as the scope 
for price increases.  The Council’s budgets are essentially cash limited and 
we cannot therefore afford to award full inflationary uplifts for all service 
contracts.  

11.4 As well as general inflation, the budget proposals make provision for further, 
specific inflation where we know that this is going to be necessary – and in 
some cases, where we have received specific grant from Government to 
deliver this, such as the expectations around increases in care markets 
resulting from increases in the minimum wage.  A summary of price increases 
built into the budget across directorates, in addition to general inflation, is 
shown in the table below. 

  

Original 
2024/25 

Revised 
2024/25 

Council tax increase <2% <3% 

Council tax base growth 0.75% 0.94% 

Social Care Precept 1% <2% 

Business rates growth 0.50% 27.44% 

Pay award 2.00% 5.00% 

General inflation 2.50% 3.20% 

Increase in fees & charges 2.50% 5.00% 

Employer pension contribution 
0% 

+£240k 
0% 

+£240k 

 

  

Page 24



12 Fees and charges 

12.1 An average increase in fees and charges income has also been estimated at 
5%, with budgets uplifted accordingly.  It is expected that this average 
increase will be delivered through a mix of price and volume increases, 
reflecting the Council’s ability to influence demand.  The average price 
increase is assumed to be 5%. For some services this means the variation in 
charges will be higher, and in others it will be lower.   

12.2 The Council’s Fees and Charges Policy was implemented for the 2023/24 
Budget and is published on the Council website. Fees and Charges Policy 
2023 - Dorset Council. 

12.3 Implementation and subsequent monitoring to ensure the success of policy 
objectives is a significant step towards the Council recovering more of its 
costs and placing less demand on general funding.  Increasing income also 
comes with increased risk, however, especially when operating in a 
competitive market.  As revenues grow, so does risk and the resource 
required to manage new business efficiently. 

13 Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement 
 

13.1 The Local Government Finance Settlement was published on  
18 December 2023. It followed the publication of a finance policy statement 
on 12 December 2023 that set out Government’s intentions for the Local 
Government Finance Settlement for the next year. 
 

13.2 The Council is still working through the detail of the statement, but the 
headlines and assumptions we are making and including in the Budget 
Strategy are set out below and throughout the rest of this report. 
 

13.3 Headline information on the Core Spending Power of Local Government as a  
sector is shown in the table below, for the six financial years for which Dorset 
Council has been established.  More detail follows on the Council’s own 
provisional settlement figures. 
 

13.4 There have been headline announcements that Local Government Core 
Spending Power (CSP) has been increased by an average of 6.5%.  This 
equates to a national CSP uplift of £3.9bn, of which 53% comes from 
increased Council Tax.  
 

13.5 CSP is made up of the following key components. 
 
1) Core Settlement - Retained business rates and Revenue Support Grant 
2) Council Tax  
3) Social Care Grants – e.g. Discharge grant, Better Care Fund 
4) Other grants - un-ringfenced grants e.g. Local Services Grant, New 

Homes Bonus etc.  
 

  

Page 25

https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/-/fees-and-charges-policy-2023
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/-/fees-and-charges-policy-2023
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/provisional-local-government-finance-settlement-england-2024-to-2025#provisional-settlement-2024-to-2025:-supporting-documents


 
13.6 The Local government finance policy statement 2024 to 2025 - GOV.UK 

(www.gov.uk) confirms that the settlement guarantees an increase in core 
spending power (CSP) of at least 3% before any decision the Local Authority 
makes about organisational efficiencies, use of reserves, and Council Tax 
levels.  To ensure this 3% uplift the Government has introduced a Funding 
Guarantee. 
 

13.7 Analysis undertaken by the Society of County Treasurers has identified that, 
where CSP increases by an average of 6.5%, nationally this consists of 
£1.825bn (47%) of additional grant and £2.078bn (53%) in additional Council 
Tax. 
 

13.8 This means the only way to realise this full uplift of 6.5% CSP is to take the 
maximum flexibilities granted when it comes to raising Council Tax, as this is 
assumed as part of the calculation.  The maximum increase allowed varies by 
authority type. 

 
13.9 All England Core Spending Power 

 

 

  

Illustrative Core Spending Power of Local Government:

2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-258

£ millions £ millions £ millions £ millions £ millions £ millions

Settlement Funding Assessment 14,559.6 14,796.9 14,809.7 14,882.2 15,671.1 16,562.7

Compensation for under-indexing the business rates multiplier 400.0 500.0 650.0 1,275.1 2,204.6 2,581.3

Council tax requirement excluding parish precepts
1 2 27,767.8 29,226.9 30,308.2 31,922.5 33,984.3 36,062.2

Improved Better Care Fund 1,837.0 2,077.0 2,077.0 2,139.8 2,139.8 2,139.8

New Homes Bonus 917.9 907.2 622.3 556.0 291.3 291.4

New Homes Bonus returned funding 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Rural Services Delivery Grant 81.0 81.0 85.0 85.0 95.0 95.0

Transition Grant 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Adult Social Care Support Grant 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Winter Pressures Grant
3 240.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Social Care Support Grant 410.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Social Care Grant4 0.0 1,410.0 1,710.0 2,346.4 3,852.0 4,544.0

Market Sustainability and Fair Cost of Care Fund 0.0 0.0 0.0 162.0 0.0 0.0

ASC Market Sustainability and Improvement Fund5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 562.0 1,050.0

Lower Tier Services Grant 0.0 0.0 111.0 111.0 0.0 0.0

ASC Discharge Fund 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 300.0 500.0

Services Grant6 0.0 0.0 0.0 822.0 483.3 76.9

Grants rolled in7 335.8 338.0 345.1 345.4 480.0 0.0

Funding Guarantee 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 133.3 196.5

Core Spending Power 46,549.1 49,337.0 50,718.3 54,647.4 60,196.7 64,099.8

Page 26

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-finance-policy-statement-2024-to-2025/local-government-finance-policy-statement-2024-to-2025
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-finance-policy-statement-2024-to-2025/local-government-finance-policy-statement-2024-to-2025


 

Dorset Council Core Spending Power (CSP) changes 
 

13.10 The table below sets out year-on-year changes in the published CSP figures.  
The settlement was broadly in line with our expectations.   
 

13.11 Dorset Council’s CSP increases by 6.4%, £25.25m, of which £16.73m (66%) 
is based on the requirement to raise Council Tax. 

 

 

Settlement Funding Assessment (SFA) 
 

13.12 SFA is the local share of business rates and Revenue Support Grant (RSG).   
Members will recall that Dorset Council started to receive RSG from 2023/24 
financial year. For the 2024/25 settlement, Dorset Council now receives 
£698k from RSG, an increase of £43k compared to 2023/24.   
 

13.13 Contextually, RSG nationally is being increased by CPI and so was inflated 
by 6.7% for 2024/25 before grants were rolled in so those that continue to 
receive it will benefit from this funding growth. 

  

Illustrative Core Spending Power of Local Government:

2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-258 Change 

23/24 to £ millions £ millions £ millions £ millions £ millions £ millions £ millions

Settlement Funding Assessment 43.6 44.3 44.3 44.3 46.6 48.3 1.64

Compensation for under-indexing the business rates multiplier 1.4 1.8 2.3 4.5 7.8 9.7 1.89

Council tax requirement excluding parish precepts
1 2 241.3 251.5 263.9 276.0 290.5 307.2 16.73

Improved Better Care Fund 10.4 12.1 12.1 12.5 12.5 12.5 -

New Homes Bonus 3.8 3.0 1.7 3.8 1.8 0.9 (0.89)

New Homes Bonus returned funding 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -

Rural Services Delivery Grant 2.4 2.4 2.5 2.5 2.8 2.8 -

Transition Grant 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -

Adult Social Care Support Grant 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -

Winter Pressures Grant
3 1.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -

Social Care Support Grant 2.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -

Social Care Grant4 0.0 9.0 9.4 13.3 22.3 26.1 3.78

Market Sustainability and Fair Cost of Care Fund 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.2 0.0 0.0 -

ASC Market Sustainability and Improvement Fund5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 4.0 7.5 3.47

Lower Tier Services Grant 0.0 0.0 0.4 0.4 0.0 0.0 -

ASC Discharge Fund 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.7 2.9 1.16

Services Grant6 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.1 1.8 0.3 (1.51)

Grants rolled in7 1.1 1.1 1.2 1.2 2.6 0.0 (2.60)

Funding Guarantee 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.6 1.56

Core Spending Power 308.7 325.2 337.7 362.7 394.5 419.7 25.25

Page 27



  
13.14 The graph below shows Dorset Council’s relative RSG compared to all 

England unitary councils.  To assist in locating Dorset, Dorset is marked in 
red and signposted by an orange arrow.  This table highlights the differences 
in government grant support.  
 

2024/25 Revenue Support Grant 
Provisional Local Government Financial Settlement for Unitary Councils in England 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 28



Business rates 
 

13.15 The small business rates multiplier is being frozen at 49.9p and the  
standard multiplier will be uprated by Septembers CPI from 52.1p to 54.6p.  
Councils will be compensated through the s31 grant where these increases 
are not passed on to the ratepayer.  Referred to as compensation for under-
indexing the business rates multiplier’ in the Core spending power table 
shown earlier in this report. 
   

13.16 Dorset Council does not simply take the headline figures for business rates 
budgets from the settlement, this means we do not set a budget which has 
the same Core Spending Power (CSP) uplift as the settlement.  Dorset 
Council has allowed for around £13.8m increase in the business rates yield in 
2024/25. A material factor in the increase is the revised rateable values which 
came into effect from 1 April 2023.  Prior to this the last rating revaluation was 
in 2017. 

 
13.17 The Council prepares its own calculations based on local circumstances. 

These calculations are supported by external validation and modelling to 
ensure these key aspects of the Council budget are robust.  These 
assumptions also follow the new officer led monitoring programme which has 
been implemented in 2023/24. 
 
Council tax 

13.18 The announcements have confirmed that the limit for a local  
referendum remains at 3% – so a proposal to increase Council Tax by 3% or 
more will trigger a local referendum.  There is also provision for councils with 
social care responsibilities to raise the adult social care precept by a further 
2%.  These changes apply for 2024/25 as well as 2023/24.  As stated earlier 
in this report, the headline increase of Core Spending power is only achieved 
if Councils make full use of this power. 
 

13.19 These budget proposals include a core Council Tax increase of 2.9985%  
and an adult social care precept increase of 1.9975%.  The proposed total 
increase is therefore 4.996%, which results in an annual band D Council Tax 
charge of £2,001.15.  This is an increase of around £1.82 per week on the 
2023/24 charge.  The Council Tax charges proposed for each band for 
2024/25, for Dorset Council only, are set out in the table, below. 
 
 
 
 

 

  

Page 29



13.20 Some further facts about the composition of our Council Tax base which help 
understand the makeup of households and respective bills are as follows: 
 
a) 51% of households in Dorset are in Bands A – C.    
b) This is increased to 71% of households when looking at Bands A – D  
c) The number of households receiving Local Council Tax Support (LCTS) 

are 22,303 
d) This includes 9,673 Pensioners on LCTS. 
e) Singe Person Discount applies to 59,315 households.   
f) There are also a range of other reliefs and disregards which provide 

support depending on who lives in the property, e.g. 1,372 band 
reductions are awarded where there is a disabled resident.  

 
13.21 Section 14 of this report provides more information about the improvements 

to LCTS for 2024/25. 
 

13.22 Councils set their Council tax based on the number of ‘Band D equivalent 
properties’.  The Council has calculated its tax base as 153,849.7 band D 
equivalent properties, compared with 152,424 for the previous year, an 
increase of <1%.  
 
Core Spending Power (CSP) Grants 

 
13.23 The next part of this report details a range of grants which form part of 

Dorset’s Core Spending Power.  National and local allocations are included in 
the earlier table. 
 
Social Care Grant 
 

13.24 Nationally, £4.5bn is being made available. More details on Dorset Council’s 
share of the fund are included in the earlier table, which outlines changes to 
Dorset’s Core Spending Power. 
 

13.25 This is not new funding and was originally announced in the Autumn 
Statement in 2022.  At the same time it was confirmed that, of the national 
allocation, £1.877bn (41%) is funded through delays in Social Care Reform 
relating to charging. This reform was delayed from October 2023 to October 
2025.  As a result, there is no certainty as to what happens for 2025/26 and, 
as a result, these grant values cannot be assumed to continue in 2025/26.  

 
13.26 For Dorset Council this means £10.7m (41%) of the 2024/25 allocation of 

£26.1m is at risk as there is no clarity on if or how this funding will be 
allocated for 2025/26.  
 

13.27 As in previous years, it is recommended that the increase in allocation is split 
50/50 between the Adults & Housing Directorate and Children’s Directorate, 
to be used in line with the terms of the grant. 
 

  

Page 30



Grant funding for discharge 

13.28 £500m in 2024/25 is being made available nationally.  Funds will be  
pooled through the Better Care Fund (BCF) process.  This pooled budget 
supports joint working across the NHS and Local Government. All of which 
aims to facilitate better integration of health and social care to achieve better 
outcomes for people and carers. This is in addition to the existing BCF, rather 
than repurposing.  
 
Ringfenced grant to Market Sustainability and Improvement Fund (MSIF) 

13.29 Nationally, £1bn in 2024/25 is being provided in a separate grant for Market  
Sustainability and Improvement in Adult Social Care.  The increase in 
national allocation is offset by the reduction in ‘grants rolled in’, which is 
where last year’s MSIF allocation is shown on Dorset Council’s allocation.  
This leaves an increase of £1.2m to provide Market Sustainability and 
Improvement in 2024/25. 
 
Services grant 
 

13.30 DLUHC describe the intention of this grant as “to provide funding to all tiers of 
local government in recognition of the vital services delivered at every 
level…” 
 

13.31 The Services Grant is being reduced by 84%.  Nationally, a reduction from 
£483.3m in 2023/24 to £76.9m  

 
13.32 The distribution of the remaining grant will continue to follow the Settlement 

Funding Assessment as previously.  Dorset’s allocation of this grant has been 
reduced by £1.51m and now amounts to £282k for 2024/25.  

New Homes Bonus 

13.33 The New Homes Bonus will continue in 2024/25.  Dorset Council’s allocation 
has been reduced from £1.8m in 2023/24 to £0.9m in 2024/25.  
 
Rural Services Delivery Grant 
 

13.34 The national allocation for Rural Services Delivery Grant will remain 
unchanged.  Therefore, Dorset Council’s share remains at £2.8m in 2024/25. 
 
Minimum Funding Guarantee 
 

13.35 The Minimum Funding Guarantee is given to councils to ensure their Core 
Spending Power (CSP) “before any decision they make about organisational 
efficiencies, use of reserves, and Council Tax levels” is at least a 3% 
increase. 
 

13.36 As Dorset’s CSP before Council Tax does not rise by the minimum 3%, 
Dorset is now reliant on the Minimum Funding Guarantee and received £1.6m 
to provide this 3% increase in CSP. 
 

Page 31



Public sector pay 

13.37 Local authority pay is negotiated nationally by the National Joint Council  
(NJC).  For 2023/24 there was an additional £1,925 increase up to spinal 
column point 43, and an additional 3.88% increase from spinal column point 
44. This added around 5% to Dorset Council’s overall pay bill.  
 

13.38 As noted earlier, for 2024/25 the assumed pay increase is 5%, which  
amounts to approximately £8.7m and essentially assumes national 
negotiations will result in broadly the same pay deal again in 2024/25. 
 

13.39 The national living wage (NLW) will increase by 9.8% to £11.44 per hour from 
1 April 2024.  It will apply to people aged 21 and above.  It is anticipated that, 
as in the last two years, the nationally negotiated pay award means that staff 
on spinal column point (SCP) 1 will continue to be above the national living 
wage.   

 
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG)  
 

13.40 The Dedicated School Grant (DSG) is a ring-fenced grant, the majority of 
which is used to fund individual schools’ budgets in local authority maintained 
schools and academies in Dorset, early years nursery entitlement and 
provision for pupils with high needs, including those with Education Health & 
Care Plans (EHCPs) in special schools, special provision and mainstream 
schools in Dorset and out of county.  Part of the DSG, the Central Services 
Schools Block (CSSB), provides funding for Dorset Council to carry out 
central functions on behalf of pupils in state-funded maintained schools and 
academies in England. 
 

13.41 There are four blocks within the DSG: Schools Block (SB) £246.4m, High 
Needs Block (HNB) £55.8m, Early Years Block (EYB) £25.9m and Central 
Services Schools Block (CSSB) £1.9m. 

 
13.42 Dorset’s DSG provisional allocation is for 2024/25 is therefore £330m before 

recoupment, including additional grants and the use of the Growth Fund 
reserve.   
 

13.43 The 2023/24 Q2 forecast overspend is £24.6m, thus increasing the 
cumulative forecast deficit to £60.5m before Safety Valve partner 
contributions.  Adjusting for partner contributions from the DfE and Dorset 
Council, the cumulative deficit is forecast to be £45.8m. 

 
13.44 The Government previously announced the extension to the statutory 

override for the DSG from 2023/24 to 2025/26.  In practical terms this means 
that the cumulative overspend on the DSG will not fall to be funded from the 
Council’s reserves but will instead continue to be treated as a separate, 
negative reserve on the Council’s balance sheet. 

  

Page 32



13.45 As reported as part of the Quarterly finance reports, the Council has entered 
into a Safety Valve agreement and is now engaged in discussion as part of 
the ‘Enhanced Monitoring and Support’ programme.  The deal and ongoing 
activity aims to reduce the cumulative overspend over time.   
 

14 Local Council Tax support (LCTS) scheme   

 
14.1 Each year the Council is required to review its Council Tax Reduction (CTR) 

Scheme in accordance with the requirements of the schedule 1A of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992 and to either maintain the scheme or replace 
it. 

 
14.2 The Council does not need to make any decision in relation to pension age 

applicants as that scheme is prescribed by Government and is operated by all 
English authorities in a similar way. 

 
14.3 As with all authorities, the Council needs to adopt a CTR scheme for working 

age applicants and as experienced by the majority of authorities within 
England, the Council also needs to make changes to the CTR scheme for 
working age applicants in order to reduce the significant administrative 
burden placed on the Council by the introduction of Universal Credit. 

 
14.4 At Full Council on 14 December 2023 a simplified banded / income approach 

was approved. The approach has been designed to remove the main problem 
areas, in particular. (a) The level of support available to the poorest 
households: (b) The problems with the introduction of full-service Universal 
Credit; and (c) The significant increase in administration costs due to the high 
level of changes received in respect of Universal Credit.  

 
14.5 The newly approved scheme has a number of features as follows:  

a) More support shall be given to those households on the lowest of 
incomes.  

b) The changes can only be made to the working age scheme as the current 
scheme for pensioners is prescribed by Central Government. 

  

Page 33



 
c) There will now be a single unified simple income grid model as shown below:

 
 

14.6 The recently approved policy increases the highest level of discount to be set 
at a maximum level of liability (100%), Band 1, and all current applicants that 
are in receipt of a ‘passported benefit’ such as Income Support, Jobseeker’s 
Allowance (Income Based) and Employment and Support Allowance (Income 
Related) will receive maximum discount on the basis that their household 
income has already been assessed.  
 

14.7 All other discount levels are based on the applicant’s and partner’s, (where 
they have one), net income.  
 

14.8 The scheme allows for variation in household size with the levels of income 
per band increasing where an applicant has a partner, and / or dependants.  
 

14.9  There will be a restriction on support to Council Tax Band E level (any 
applicant who resides in a property banded F,G or H will have their Council 
Tax Reduction calculated on a Band E level. Currently there are 240 band F, 
79 band G and 1 band H.  
 

14.10 Where an applicant has non-dependants living with them, there will be a fixed 
standard charge of £5 per week per non-dependant. This is a significant 
chang  from the existing deductions which can be up to £14.15 per week and 
the change will significantly assist low income households.  
 

14.11 Disability benefits such as Disability Living Allowance and Personal 
Independence Allowance will continue to be disregarded.  
 

14.12 Where any applicant, their partner, or dependant child(ren) are disabled, a 
further disregard of £50 per week will be given, thereby continuing to provide 
additional support to those with disabilities 
 

  

Page 34



 
14.13 The following are disregarded: 

 
a) Carer’s Allowance and the Support Component of Employment and 

Support Allowance will be disregarded.  
b) Child benefit and Child Maintenance will continue to be disregarded.  
c) The following elements within Universal credit will be disregarded:  

i) Housing Element.  
ii) Disabled Child Element.  
iii) Carer's Element; and  
iv) Limited Capability for Work and Limited Capability for Work & Work 

Related Activity Elements 
d) The total disregard on war pensions and war disablement pensions will 

continue. 
  

14.14 Extended payments will be removed.  
 

14.15 A capital limit of £6,000 with no tariff (or assumed income) will be applied;  
 

14.16 Backdating of claims will be allowed for up to 3 months, this is an extension 
from the existing 1 month provision. The period of backdate will be at the 
discretion of the Council and would not affect periods prior to 1 April 2024. 
 

 
15 Flexible use of capital receipts 

15.1 At Council on 14 December, the Flexible Capital receipts policy for 2023/24 to 
2024/25 was approved for the use of up to £2m of capital receipts. In the 
provisional local government settlement on 18 December 2023, the national 
policy has been extended to March 2030. 
  

15.2 Appendix 8 [Available for Cabinet] details Dorset Council’s approach to use of 
capital receipts and contains details of the proposed work.  
 

  

Page 35



16 MTFP process and budget development 

16.1 The budget approved in February 2023 showed there was a MTFP gap,  
including planned savings, of £31.895m from 2024/25 to 2027/28, of which 
£13.815m arose in 2024/25.  Following on from a review of our assumptions 
and accumulating cost and demand pressures, the budget gap moved on as 
summarised in the table below, which was presented to Cabinet on 7 
November 2023. 

Opening budget gap as at 14/02/23 £13,815,097 

Council tax increase/growth (£4,726,897) 

Business rates increase/growth (£3,212,735) 

Change in grant (£1,861,610) 

Change in inflation £5,637,949 

DSG recovery plan (now funded from reserves) (£4,400,000) 

Adult’s pressures £3,432,234 

Corporate pressures £2,951,119 

Place pressures £24,463,907 

Children's pressures £5,968,772 

Change in central finance pressures (£840,000) 

Adult’s savings (£8,000,000) 

Corporate savings (£1,819,864) 

Place savings (£4,831,000) 

Central savings (£3,600,000) 

Draft Budget gap as at 20/10/23 £22,976,973 

 
16.2 It was clear that rising demands were having an impact on the MTFP and  

increased the budget gap from £14m to £23m.   
 

16.3 Over the time since then, officers have put in an enormous amount of work to 
identify further savings and transformation options to help close the budget 
gap. This information was shared with all members at informal briefings.  This 
work has enabled the budget gap to be closed as follows. 

Budget gap as at 7/11/2023 £22,976,973 

Savings from Our Future Council (£12,040,831) 

Business rates increase/growth (£10,313,264) 

Council increase/growth (£1,684,770) 

Reduction in Corporate pressures (£802,357) 

Change in inflation (£711,938) 

Increase in Central pressures £50,500 

Reduction in Corporate savings £169,000 

Increase in Place pressures £441,995 

Reduction in Place savings £892,600 

Reduction in central grants £1,022,092 

Budget gap  £0 

 

Page 36



17 Setting a balanced budget 
 
17.1 The November 2023 budget report to Cabinet reflected that all budget work 

needs process and method, and these must be structured around a 
framework – in this case, a draft statement of principles – to be used in 
developing the budget.  The principles were intended to be constructed as 
helpful language to be used to describe how we would do our work to balance 
the budget and take difficult decisions about how to deliver the priorities and 
outcomes in the Council Plan.  The principles are: 
 
i) we will not balance the Budget Strategy by using reserves 

ii) resource allocation will be driven by the Dorset Council Plan and 

priorities 

iii) services should be protected where possible but clearly demonstrate 

value for money and improved efficiency 

iv) we should seek to maximise the savings from becoming a unitary council 

v) we will develop short-term and long-term transformational savings plans 

vi) we will continue to take an increasingly commercial approach 

vii) we will use best practice around business cases for our decision making 

and we will be open to invest to save opportunities 

viii) budgets should be realistic to achieve the objectives of the Council and 

we must hold ourselves to account for their delivery and sound financial 

management. 

18 Summary budget proposals 

18.1 Analysis of budget movements and savings is set out in the individual 
Directorate/Service sections of this report and in the appendices.  If adopted, 
this Budget Strategy will deliver a balanced budget in 2024/25 and the 
following gaps, still to be resolved, for the following years of the MTFP. 
 

 
 

Previous

Year

Budget

MTFP Yr1 MTFP Yr2 MTFP Yr3 MTFS Yr4 MTFP Yr5

2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 2027-28 2028-29

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Council tax 292.109 307.876 319.490 331.542 344.040 357.021

Business rates (NDR funding) 50.199 63.976 60.457 60.457 60.457 60.457

Other grants treated as general funding 5.245 4.402 3.420 3.420 3.420 3.420

Total funding 347.553 376.254 383.368 395.420 407.918 420.898

Budget requirement 347.553 376.254 396.867 421.953 447.867 471.850

Budget gap (cumulative) 0.000 0.000 (13.499) (26.534) (39.950) (50.952)

Page 37



18.2 The proposed directorate budgets are as follows. 

 
18.3 More detail on the directorate budgets is available in the next section.   

 
19 Directorate-level context updates 

19.1 This section of the report deals with the budget contexts for each of the  
Council’s directorates. 
 

19.2 Appendix 1 contains a reconciliation of the changes for each Directorate.  
  

Adults & Housing Services 
 

19.3 Adults and Housing have had a busy year supporting the system with the 
rising demand for services with no additional core funding. Through 
partnership working we are seeking a way forward to rebalance demand and 
spend across the system to improve resilience and outcomes for people.  
 

19.4 The net budget proposed for Adults and Housing Services is an increase of 
£7.169m, to £154.387m, a net increase of 4.9%. 
 

19.5 Adult Social Care and Housing have developed a ten-year plan that will 
deliver improved outcomes and greater financial sustainability to manage 
future demand and market sustainability. The programme looks to deliver 
prevention, short term care, quality, and sustainability through six 
programmes of work. 
 

19.6 Budget increases centre on two main themes for 2024/25; pressures that  
impact all council services, such as pay inflation, general inflation and cost of 
increments and pay awards (£6.749m); and specific budget increases for 
Adults and Housing, totalling £8.420m. 
 

19.7 Specific budget increases cover Adult Social Care packages including  
growth totalling (£6.920m) and additional funding to support the shortfall in 
Housing subsidy (£1.5m). 

 

Adjusted base 

budget 23/24

Draft base 

budget 24/25

Increase in 

base after 

adjustments

%

Adults and Housing £147,218,371 £154,387,356 £7,168,985 5%

Childrens £77,760,595 £84,462,153 £6,701,558 9%

Corporate £35,626,263 £38,368,703 £2,742,440 8%

Place £86,648,730 £109,974,703 £23,325,973 27%

Central Finance £299,017 (£10,939,359) (£11,238,376) N/A

Total £347,552,976 £376,253,556 £28,700,580 8%

Council Tax, Business 

Rates and Central 

Grants Funding (£347,552,976) (£376,253,556) (£28,700,580) 8%

Page 38



19.8 The above pressures have been offset by 2024/25 transformation savings  
(£8.0m), as follows: 
 

Proposal Value 

Market management   £5.000m 

Working age accelerator £0.500m 

HomeFirst accelerator £0.926m 

Accommodation with care £0.074m 

Commissioned Community Care £1.500m 

 

19.9 In addition to this, the continuation of grants including Discharge Fund,  
Market Sustainability Improvement Fund and additional Adult Social Care 
Grant will support the Adult Social Care budget.  
 

19.10 There are risks within all budgets, particularly those demand led services that 
sit within Adults and Housing services.  All modelling and strategic budget 
planning has been based on the best information and projections available.  
However, pressures and demands are subject to change, and this can have a 
significant budgetary impact.  Because of the sharp 28% increase in 
homelessness need and demand, and a broader rise in need for supported, 
adapted or affordable homes, this requires an expansion of the approach to 
prevent and relieve homelessness and address a broad spectrum of housing 
needs. This is so that it succeeds at this scale and finds suitable alternative 
housing for greater numbers of people in need.  
 

19.11 Given the extent of need coming forwards work is underway to recalibrate the 
current plans to transform the approach to homelessness and to remove the 
reliance on expensive bed and breakfast accommodation to relieve 
homelessness.  Because of the sharp 28% increase in homelessness need 
and demand, and a broader rise in need for supported, adapted or affordable 
homes, this requires an expansion of the approach to prevent homelessness 
so that it succeeds at this scale and finds suitable alternative housing for 
greater numbers of people in need.   
 
Children’s Services 

19.12 The overall budget proposed for Children’s Services is an increase of £6.7m, 
to £84.46mm, an increase of 9%. 

 
19.13 The Directorate’s ambitious, five-year transformation plan is a key component 

of the 2023/24 budget, along with the Dorset Children Thrive locality model 
and closer working with partners from various agencies, delivering six 
priorities, including all children and young people within Dorset having the 
best start to life.  

  
19.14 Partly due to the above Children’s Services were awarded Families First for 

Children Pathfinder (FFCP) Wave 1 status, a two-year project running until 

Page 39



March 2025.  This project is between the Department for Education (DfE) and 
three local authorities across England.  Dorset will work with local partners to 
co-design and deliver end-to-end service reform, implementing new Family 
Help services, child protection arrangements and support for kinship care. 

 
19.15 This is the government’s children’s social care implementation strategy, 

Stable homes, built on love. It responds to recommendations from the 
independent review of children’s social care, the Child Safeguarding Practice 
Review Panel report on child protection in England and the Competitions and 
Market Authority’s market study of children’s social care provision. The 
pathfinder will test delivery of key strategy commitments. 
 

19.16 Dorset is part of the DfE pathfinder Families first for children (FFC).  This 
provides an extra £4.5m of funding which can be used between July 2023 
and March 2025.  
 

19.17 Remodelling budgets to deliver these priorities remains a critical activity.  
 

19.18 2024/25 will be the fourth year of the Children’s Services transformation  
programme, with projected in-year savings of £4.25m.   
 

19.19 Budget increases centre on two main themes for 2024/25; pressures that  
impact all council services, such as pay inflation, general inflation and cost of 
increments and pay awards (£5m); and specific budget increases for 
Children’s services, totalling £5.9m. 
 

19.20 Specific budget increases cover nine areas designed to support Children’s  
priorities, including the best start to life for all children and young people.  A 
summary is provided in the table below. 

Area Description £m 

Pay related and 
General changes 

As per all Directorates, additional funding for 
pay awards, increments and other pay 
adjustments.  This also includes fees and 
charges and gas and electricity changes. 

5.01 

High Needs Block 
Recharge update 

The School and Early Years Finance (England) 
Regulations 2022 have been reviewed to 
identify appropriate expenditure for the HNB 
recharge. Changes annually. 

              
0.250  

Children in Care 
Financial Growth 

Our CiC population is declining, however costs 
are not reducing at the same level.  If numbers 
of CiC hadn't fallen, then £5m est per annum / 
work through in the model.   
Even where our children in care numbers 
remain stable, it is highly likely we will see unit 
costs per child increase as a result of inflation 
and increasing complexity of children's needs. 

1.35 

Page 40



Area Description £m 

Children who Are 
Disabled Services - 
Intensive Support 
Packages 

Increased need in support packages for children 
with complex needs to live at home.   This 
covers overnight short breaks demand and cost 
pressures. 

              
0.5 

Impact of the National 
Transfer Scheme for 
Unaccompanied 
Minors 

To help create a service to support our 
unaccompanied young people. 

              
0.3  

Birth to Settled 
Adulthood Head of 
Service  

Funding required to lead the Birth to Settled 
Adulthood team, part of the Birth to Settled 
Adulthood transformation project. 
 
This is an essential post required to lead a 
redesigned service which will provide an 
improved service to children and young people 
with additional needs, and in time, create 
savings/cost avoidance for the Council.  

0.11 

Financial pressures 
identified in July 2023 

Linked to Children in Care Financial Growth 
area.  Although numbers are travelling in the 
right direction, the cost (often linked to inflation 
and complexity) is increasing. 

2.0 

Local Alliance Group 
Funding 

Funding for the six Local Alliance Groups to 
permanently receive £100k pa.  This was piloted 
with temporary funding in 2023-24 and it is in 
line with Pathfinder model. 
 
Following the initial temporary roll out of funding 
to our localities, we are seeing creative local 
solutions that support our children and young 
people ensuring they are receiving the right help 
at the right time, avoiding an escalation in need. 

0.6 

Traded Services 
income removal 

Due to the increased demand supporting our 
children and young people with SEND, and to 
refocus resource into delivering the Safety Valve 
requirements, the ability to generate income 
from 'selling' excess capacity within Specialist 
Teachers, Education Psychologist and related 
teams has disappeared.   

0.6 

Growing our own: 
Student Social 
Workers 

Part of a strategy to have 21 Student Social 
Worker positions by 2025 

              
0.22  

 

19.21 The Children in Care model has been updated to reflect the cost of the  
current cohort in 2024/25, assumed new entrants and leavers, inflation and 
the application of the transformation programme as most transformation 
projects within Children’s affect the Children in Care cohort, historically, now 
and in the future.   

Page 41



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

19.22 Nationally, Children’s Services budgets are under significant pressures.  
Understanding the national context and identifying appropriate risks is 
important when setting a budget.  There is one clear message; Children’s 
Services nationally are experiencing significant service pressures and will 
potentially be subjected to a major policy shift within the next 1-2 years. 
 

19.23 The County Council Networks (CCN) states the national picture for local  
authority, and Children’s Services budgets: 

“New analysis has revealed that England’s largest councils face 
overspending their budgets by over £600m this year…While all council 
frontline services are experiencing higher than expected costs, increasing 
demand and an acute rise in the costs of placing children in care mean in-
year spending on children’s services is spiralling out of control, with almost 
half (£319m) of the projected £639m overspend attributable to this service.” 

19.24 “The number of vulnerable children requiring care has risen dramatically post-
pandemic, while inflation and a broken provider market in statutory care 
placements mean councils face no choice but to pay spiralling fees,” said 
Barry Lewis, the CCN’s vice chair and finance spokesperson. 

  

Page 42



19.25 The “broken provider market” is a reference to the scarcity of placements that 
has resulted in more children placed far from home or in inappropriate 
placements and driven higher fees, as set out by last year’s report on the 
sector by the Competition and Markets Authority. (Community Care, 
November 2023). 

 
19.26 Dorset does buck this trend though, for example a reduction in children in 

care, however Dorset Council is not immune to the cost pressures and rises 
associated.  Increasingly, complex care needs are also contributing to the 
increased budget requirement in 2024/25. 
 

19.27 Dorset Council is part of the National Transfer Scheme for Unaccompanied 
Asylum-Seeking Children (UAS Children).  Nationally set thresholds require 
Dorset to care for 67 unaccompanied children during 2022/23.  Home Office 
funding does not necessarily cover the full costs for supporting these young 
people, and therefore increased budget is needed to create a team and cover 
other costs, such as interpreters.  We continue to lobby the Home Office for 
adequate funding to cover actual costs.  
 

19.28 In summary, there is still significant risk within the 2024/25 Children’s 
Services budget, including the continued delivery of the ambitious 
transformation programme, wider demand pressures and complexity, 
appropriate funding and support from partner organisations and delivery of 
the Pathfinder programme.  
 

19.29 To mitigate some of this risk, ringfenced Social Care grant of £6.4m (before 
required commitments) has been made available to the Directorate.  This 
grant will provide a degree of stability as Children’s services enters what 
continues be a very challenging and changeable period. 

Place Directorate 

19.30 The overall budget proposed for the Place Directorate is an increase from  
£86.8m in 2023/24 to £109.975m in 2024/25, an increase of £23.3m or 
around 27%.   
 

19.31 At the time of writing, the quarter 2 2023/24 forecast for the (in-year) Place 
Directorate net expenditure is an overspend of circa £14m.  More detail is 
available in the quarterly finance management reports presented to Cabinet.  
The main themes reported are: 
 
a) Inflation linked expenditure that is higher than budgeted across all areas 

but particularly waste services where the payment of inflation is a legal 
contractual requirement 

b) Income forecast not achieving the budgeted level due to economic factors, 

weather and visitor numbers to Dorset being lower than previous years. 

c) Some savings targets not achieved 

d) Market conditions and market prices 

e) Central government changes 

Page 43



19.32 The 2024/25 budget rebases a number of budgets to deal with these issues 
where local action or other agreed mitigation has not addressed the shortfall.   

19.33 The main components of the budget increase are: 
 

a) pay awards and other related central adjustments  £6.7m  
b) general inflation allowance at 3.2%    £1.6m 
c) increased fees and charges income    (£2.5m) 
d) service specific pressures     £22.1m 
e) savings proposals     (£4.538m) 

 
19.34 Within the service specific pressures, the significant numbers are as follows: 

 
a) Realignment of Dorset Travel including SEND transport         £12m  
b) Realignment of Car Parking budget            £3.5m 
c) Realignment of Waste recyclate budget               £1.1m 
d) Realignment of Planning income budget           £0.9m 
e) Anticipated removal of DFE funds for joint use leisure centres £0.73m  
f) Cost of POPS (Persistent Organic Pollutants)          £0.5m 

 
Dorset Travel 
 

19.35  The realignment of Dorset Travel budgets comes about after a number of 
years of increasing costs. The financial pressure of home to school transport 
has been a significant national problem in recent years, and has been well 
documented, most recently in the County Councils Network report ‘From 
Home to the Classroom: making travel to school services sustainable’.  
Transport contracts have increased by 8% year on year since 2015. The 
increase of cost is two years of exceptional increases due to fuel, driver and 
market pressures which have increased the budget by £12m.  The budget 
rebase is necessary for a balanced Dorset Travel budget in 2024/25. 
 
Parking 
 

19.36 In recent years the budgets put forward by the Directorate for car parking 
have been too optimistic given the level of fees and charges.  As a result the 
budget is proposed to be realigned to reflect the level of income expected 
based on the current fees and charges.  The pressure from re-basing car 
parking income includes: 
 
a) Rebase of 23/24 income shortfall £2.5m 
b) Pressure as a result of not applying the required increase as set out in 

the fees & charges policy for discretionary charges £0.6m. 
 

19.37 As always with car parking income, this figure can be impacted by many 
variables such as weather and the wider economic conditions. Summer 2023, 
in terms of rainfall, was the worst for a decade, which affected the predicted 
summer income. The service has put forward growth of £3.5m for 
realignment. 

  

Page 44



Recycling 

 
19.38 The cost paid or income received for our collected recyclable waste Dry 

Mixed Recyclate (DMR) is dictated by national and international market 
conditions.  The chart below shows the volatility of the recyclate price over 
recent years.  A budget realignment of almost £1.1m is proposed to reflect 
the current, relatively high, costs being incurred for disposal which, even at 
this higher cost, remains cheaper than disposal costs of residual waste. 
 

 

 
Planning income 
 

19.39 The Planning income budget needs realignment by circa £1.65m.  However, 
the statutory aspect of planning fees is controlled by central government, and 
price uplifts have recently been increased.  It is estimated that the uplift in 
prices as determined by the government could offset circa £750k of the 
budget realignment needed, which is why this shows as £0.9m in the table 
above. 

 
DfE funding 
 

19.40 Joint use leisure centres are partly funded by the Department for  
Education (DfE).  There is an expectation that the DfE will be reducing its 
financial contribution for 2024/25 and onwards.  Therefore, if operating costs 
remain the same, Dorset Council could be facing a shortfall of circa £730k in 
DfE contributions.  Discussions with DfE are not finalised at the time of writing 
and officers have submitted an application to DfE which if accepted would 
mitigate the impact. 
 

Persistent Organic Pollutants (POPS)  
 

19.41 The introduction of new processes at Household Recycling Centres (HRCs) 
to deal with Persistent Organic Pollutants (POPS) is being undertaken by our 
HRC contractor in order to comply with latest government requirements.  The 
estimated cost is £0.5m. 
 

  

A
p

r-
1

9

Ju
n

-1
9

A
u

g-
1

9

O
ct

-1
9

D
ec

-1
9

Fe
b

-2
0

A
p

r-
2

0

Ju
n

-2
0

A
u

g-
2

0

O
ct

-2
0

D
ec

-2
0

Fe
b

-2
1

A
p

r-
2

1

Ju
n

-2
1

A
u

g-
2

1

O
ct

-2
1

D
ec

-2
1

Fe
b

-2
2

A
p

r-
2

2

Ju
n

-2
2

A
u

g-
2

2

O
ct

-2
2

D
ec

-2
2

Fe
b

-2
3

A
p

r-
2

3

Ju
n

-2
3

A
u

g-
2

3

O
ct

-2
3

D
ec

-2
3

Fe
b

-2
4

A
p

r-
2

4

5 Year DMR Cost / Income per Tonne

Actual Budget Linear (Actual)

Page 45



Place – savings  
 

19.42 Savings are included in the budget proposals. 
 

19.43 £0.331m is a saving in relation to withdrawal from QE Leisure Centre, as  
previously agreed by Cabinet on 1 March 2022, withdrawal from the Joint 
Use agreement would take place on 31/03/2024, noting that the Council 
would support the Foundation Trustees during the transitional period 
including the release of £150k for the all-weather pitch, and noting that there 
is a good level of alternative provision in the area. 

 
19.44 Place Directorate has put forward a partial contribution of £5m to offset the  

growth within the directorate.  
 

a) Economic Growth and Infrastructure: savings of  £2.055m.     

Additional income assumptions in Planning  £0.777m.   

Business support reduction in salaries £0.085m.  

Vacancy management/sickness management target £0.484m.   

Use of network development funds of £0.125m.   

Additional permitting and other income in Highways £0.200m.   

Changes in car parking income assumptions  £0.384m. 

 

b) Place services: savings of  £2.347m.   

Assumptions for reduction in agency cost £0.159m.   

Proposed saving from efficiencies within the continued  

operations of street cleaning  £0.350m.   

Assumed changes in waste costs/prices  £0.355m.   

Assumed reduction in vehicle parts costs  £0.030m.   

Vacancy management/sickness management target  £0.170m.   

Additional trade waste assumption  £0.350m.   

Additional garden waste assumption £0.200m.   

Realignment of vehicle fuel budget  £0.250m.   

Ash dieback cost reduction/contribution £0.080m.   

FCERM savings  £0.029m. 

Apprentices savings  £0.054m.   

Various income line uplifts  £0.174m.   

Other  £0.146m. 

 

c) Customer and Cultural service: savings of £0.457m.  Planned through 
Our Future Council transformation, vacancy management, income and 
various operational efficiencies. 

 
d) Assets and Regeneration: savings of £0.141m.  Planned through 

vacancies and a reduction in the Repairs and Maintenance (R&M) 
budget. 
 

Page 46



19.45 The £0.5m of savings include reduced forecasts for growth to net the total 
down to £4.538m, make up the balance of £5m.  Detail of these mitigations 
are included in the earlier description of the growth. 
 

19.46 It should be acknowledged that the budget as proposed has uncertainty in  
some areas, meaning that it is not risk-free.  The major issues for volatility 
remain unchanged: 
 
a) Income via fees and charges are often dependant on the wider economic 

landscape. 
b) SEND Transport costs will be subject to volumes of children in the system 

as well as their specific requirements. 
c) Recyclate waste is a global commodity and is subject to market 

fluctuation, with our costs pegged on a monthly basis. 
d) Achievement of savings will be subject to the ability to pause recruitment 

sufficiently long enough to achieve vacancy targets. 
e) Income uplifts of 5% (as corporately mandated) are not always achievable 

where there are existing contractual/legal arrangements which conflict. 
f) Limiting inflation uplifts to 3.2% across the board may not always be 

achievable. 
g) New legislation being introduced without new burden funding, for example 

the removal of charging for DIY waste at HRC’s 
h) Some existing tactical savings (as implemented in prior year budgets) still 

need resolution and these include:-  
i. car parking income at County Hall 
ii. a review of a significant quantity of leases where tenants are 

holding over and where rent reviews and/or uplifts haven’t been 
applied 

iii. a reduction in the cost of interim staff in Assets & Regeneration  
i) Some transformation savings will require investment in new technology or 

new solutions to achieve new ways of working or development of 
customer platforms.  These will be subject to business case approval. 
 

19.47 There are a number of items in the list above which have been identified as 
having the possibility of a significant influence on the budget.  As these are 
known, it is therefore crucial that within the directorate robust action plans are 
put in place to ensure the risks which have been foreseen, are closely 
monitored and mitigated.   
 

19.48 The Joint Archives Board met on the 8 November 2023 and set out the   
2024/25 budget considerations. The proposals are based on assumptions 
and principles that are consistent with those used for the rest of the Dorset 
Council budget. The recommendation was agreed that the Joint Archives 
Service face a “standstill” budget.  That assumption has been built into the 
overall DC 2024/25 budget assumptions. 
 
JAB Nov 2023 Budget Monitoring and Budget 2024-25 Report.pdf 
(dorsetcouncil.gov.uk) 
 

  

Page 47

https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s37371/JAB%20Nov%202023%20Budget%20Monitoring%20and%20Budget%202024-25%20Report.pdf
https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s37371/JAB%20Nov%202023%20Budget%20Monitoring%20and%20Budget%202024-25%20Report.pdf


Public Health Dorset  
 

19.49 Public Health Dorset is a shared service established to provide public health 
functions to the two unitary authorities, Dorset Council and BCP Council.  In 
order to fulfil statutory duties to improve health and wellbeing, and reduce 
inequalities in health, both Councils receive a ring-fenced grant from the 
Department of Health and Social Care.  This is passed to councils via the 
DLUHC.  The grant must be used to provide mandated public health services, 
but it can also be used to support wider interventions to improve health and 
wellbeing. 
 

19.50 Each of the Councils retains part of the grant to deliver services outside the 
scope of the shared service agreement, but still within grant conditions. 
 

19.51 When announcing the 2023/24 Grant allocations, Local Authorities were 
advised of an indicative allocation for 2024/25 of £15.288m equating to 
£39.53 per head based on population projections. 
 

19.52 On 7 December 2023 the joint board agreed that the growth in this allocation 
would be retained by each respective partner Council.  Each partner received 
delegation to the Director of Public Health in consultation with the Portfolio 
holders and section 151 officers to allocate towards enhancing service 
delivery in line with the conditions of the grant i.e. to support public health 
outcomes in each Council.  
 
Corporate Services  
 

19.53 The overall budget proposed for Corporate Services is an increase of £2.7m, 
to £38.369m.  
 

19.54 The proposals incorporate identified budget pressures of £4.1m partially 
offset by cost reductions of £1.4m.  The increase is largely related to pay, 
pension and inflationary changes together with reductions in some income 
streams.  Further details are identified in Appendix 1. 
 

19.55 Corporate Services consists of the Corporate Development Directorate, 
Business Insight, Intelligence and Communications, and the Legal and 
Democratic Services teams. 
 

19.56 From January 2024 Customer and Cultural services will move from the Place 
Directorate to the Corporate Development directorate.  Budgets will be 
realigned and reported on in the Quarter 4 2023/24 financial management 
report.   

  

Page 48



19.57 The role of Corporate Services is fourfold: 
 

a) to set strategic direction and support performance, strategy and delivery  
b) to provide direct support and services to residents (e.g., the Revenues 

and Benefits team and the Land Charges Service) 
c) to support the rest of the organisation so they can provide the best 

services they can within financial and legal constraints. 
d) to provide those essential corporate & democratic services required of a 

Council of our size and scale. 
 

19.58 During 2023/24 the department has continued to provide crucial services 
which have enabled the Council to function as well as continuing to deliver 
significant front-line response including business grants, enhanced business 
rates reliefs, and other national initiatives. 
 

20 Transformation and savings opportunities 

20.1 Work continues to identify savings and transformation over the longer term for 
continuing input into the MTFP and the Budget Strategy.  This work is 
regularly reviewed through the relevant Boards and Committees. 

 
20.2 As part of setting the 2024/25 budget a required saving from the Our Future 

Council transformation programme is £12m. 
 

20.3 In November 2022, cabinet endorsed “Our Future Council” transformation 
programme to support the council in delivering a balance budget, as set out in 
the medium-term financial plan.  The Council committed to transforming the 
way council services operate through use of technology, improving how 
systems operate, enabling customers to self-serve, through improved online 
access, and by reviewing our existing and future use of assets.  This is 
aligned with the council’s priority of ‘becoming a more responsive and 
customer focused council’.    
 

20.4 Through this programme the council aims to move beyond convergence and 
comprehensively review how it is organised and how we could work even 
more closely with our communities and partners. Central to this 7-year 
transformation plan is a renewed emphasis on our priorities, customers, and 
communities, with a resolute commitment to placing people and outcomes 
above our internal organisational boundaries and bureaucracy.    
 

20.5 Recognising any major transformation programme will require time to deliver 
during 2024/25 any non-delivery will be underwritten by use of reserves.  This 
may seem like stating the obvious, as any overspend experienced in a 
financial year which cannot be offset elsewhere during the year ultimately 
results in a drawdown of reserves. The reason for including this statement in 
the report is to be explicitly clear with the Council that this will be required in 
the event the savings requirement is not achieved in-year. 

  

Page 49



20.6 The Council has a track record of delivering significant savings since 
becoming a Unitary, as evidenced by the report to Cabinet in September 
2023 outlining savings delivered so far are in excess of £96m.  This track 
record of delivery provides a level of assurance that the required OFC 
savings are achievable. 

 
20.7 There have been well documented instances of Local Authorities setting 

transformation targets which have for one reason or another not been 
delivered.  This is therefore a commitment which cannot be made lightly, and 
in the event that the savings requirement is not met by the time the Council 
sets it’s 2025/26 budget, then these savings will need to be made another 
way.  This offer of an effective ‘underwrite’ is for 2024/25 only.  

 

20.8 This underwrite, provides a financial buffer to allow the work to be brought 
forwards and delivered during 24/25, with the full year effect being realised in 
25/26 at the latest.  

 

20.9 Therefore, to allocate up to £12m reserves in this way is seen as temporary, 
not recurrent.  

 
21 Risk 

General uncertainty, the pandemic and a single-year settlement 

21.1 There is risk in any set of budget proposals.  Like every council – and 
Government itself - we are facing a number of potential scenarios each of 
which carry varying levels of volatility and uncertainty in our planning 
assumptions.  Whilst Government has provided some policy ambition for 
2024/25, these aims will be subject to the regular process of consultation as 
well as national and global events between now and when the next 
settlement is announced. 

 
21.2 The Council is limited in what can be done at this stage to mitigate much of 

the environmental and economic risk, but we will remain focused on delivery 
of the work programmes required to support services to Dorset’s residents, 
within the budget available.  Continuous monitoring of the agreed budget will 
be key to ensuring we keep abreast of the operating environment and make 
important, well-informed, timely decisions about our activities and their 
consequences. 
 

21.3 As the following risks have been somewhat foreseen, it is crucial that the 
Council continues to develop and deploy appropriate mitigation measures if 
these risks, or new risks materialise.  
 

  

Page 50



Inherent volatility in demand 

21.4 The continued economic uncertainty means there remains considerable risk 
around our planning assumptions for growth in demand and pressure on 
costs.  The funding proposals set out in this paper provide for reasonable 
forecasts of growth in demand for Adults’ Services and Children’s Services 
but both locally and nationally, demand for people services continues to 
challenge capacity and budgets. 
 
Transformation and savings risks 

21.5 Included within the proposals are a £12m savings requirement to be 
delivered.  As mentioned earlier in the report there is an inherent risk in any 
transformation programme or other tactical savings plan in ensuring the right 
work is done in sufficient time to realise savings in line with the plan.  These 
things are not always entirely within the Council’s control – some will involve 
consultation; others require specific resources to be deployed to deliver them.  
As we saw during the pandemic and have continued to see during 2023/24 
with Dorset being require to respond to National initiatives sometimes these 
plans cannot be delivered because officer time and effort is reprioritised 
elsewhere on urgent but unplanned activities that arise. 
 
Inflation 

21.6 For the purposes of this report, references to inflation are typically referring to 
the Consumer Prices Index (CPI) produced by the Office for National 
Statistics (ONS).  This tracks how prices have changes in the 12 months 
prior. 
 

21.7 There is also still significant inflationary pressure in the economy.  The 
November 2023 inflation rate eased to 3.9% and opinion remains divided on 
whether this is a shorter-term, temporary phenomenon, or whether it will be 
longer-term, and sustained.  Either way, it is important for the Council to 
include an element of price increases in its financial plans although we cannot 
provide for all of this because our budgets are effectively cash limited. 
 

21.8 Whilst inflation has eased, this does not mean prices are reducing.  Prices 
are still continuing to rise, just more slowly.  This is a subtle, but significant 
point when setting a £376m budget.  
 

  

Page 51



21.9 As an example, based on ONS figures, a service which cost £100m in 
November 2021, if increased by CPI 10.7% would cost £110.7m in November 
2022.  By November 2023 CPI now means this costs £115m.  Therefore, the 
cost has effectively increased by 15% over 24 months.  This demonstrates 
the level of pressure faced when setting the 2024/25 budget. 
 

Illustrative example of compound impact of CPI since November 2021 

Cost in 
Nov'21 (£) CPI Nov'22 

Cost in 
Nov'22 (£) CPI Nov'23 

Cost in Nov'23 
(£) 

100 10.70%     110.70  3.90%     115.02  

300 10.70%     332.10  3.90%     345.05  

375 10.70%     415.13  3.90%     431.31  

 
21.10 Our approach to inflation to provide for general inflation at 3.2% and further 

specific inflation within service budgets where we know there will be particular 
pressures.  It will be necessary for us to continue to carry out effective 
contract management so that we ensure that a robust and value for money 
approach is taken to supplier increases.  We cannot afford to simply increase 
contract prices by inflation.  We will work positively with our supply chain to 
discuss all aspects of contract performance – including pricing – but this must 
be within the context of overall affordability within the Council’s budget.  It is 
also the reason that we are recommending that some of the unallocated 
funding from the settlement is added to contingency for the time being. 
 
High Needs Block 

21.11 Dorset Council, like many other authorities nationally, has an accumulated 
overspend on the High Needs Block (HNB) of the Dedicated Schools Grant 
(DSG).  

  
21.12 The Regulations in place to provide for the current accounting treatment of 

this deficit were due to fall away on 1 April 2023 but this has now been 
deferred until 1 April 2026.  The immediate risk of this overspend falling to the 
Council to fund has therefore subsided but longer-term risk remains that the 
overspend will fall to be funded by councils. 

 
21.13 As mentioned earlier in the report Dorset Council is already implementing an 

ambitious plan to deliver additional, high-quality capacity and to achieve 
outstanding provision within the budget envelope, but this will take time as 
well as the resources the Council has already committed to the programme.  
Dialogue with DfE continues as part of the government’s national Safety 
Valve programme. 
 
Future national strategy implementation 

21.14 There is considerable risk around the implementation of future national 
strategies for care services.  We know that adult social care cap and 
associated reforms have been deferred to October 2025 but as we have 
seen, additional funding is still being provided, as mentioned earlier the 
financial implications are not clear. 

Page 52



 
21.15 There are further reforms which will impact on the MTFP in due course and 

these will be built into the Council’s financial model as and when more policy 
and financial detail is available. 

 
Risk management and reporting 

21.16 The Council has robust governance and reporting processes around risk and 
concerns around containing expenditure within the budget can be escalated 
through this framework at any time.  The S151 Officer is required to provide 
assurance as part of the Budget Strategy, and this is set out later in this 
report. 

 
21.17 The S151 Officer has also commissioned SWAP to continue to review the 

work that has been done to underpin the assurance statement that is given in 
this budget report and that will be reported to the Audit and Governance 
Committee in due course. 
 

22 Reserves, balances, contingency and resilience 

General funds 

22.1 The balance of Dorset Council’s general fund closed at £34.75m on  
31 March 2023.  Any overspend in the current year will impact on that 
balance unless it is financed via the use of other reserves. 
 

22.2 In 2018 the Shadow Council commissioned an independent report from the 
Charted Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) which 
recommended that the Council should retain a minimum of 5% of its budget 
requirement as a general fund reserve.   The S151 Officer recommends this 
approach is continued for 2024/25 and with reference to the net budget 
requirement calculation set out in Appendix 1, Cabinet is recommended to 
agree a minimum level for the general fund of £18.8m. 
 

22.3 However, as in previous years with similar risk and volatility of planning 
assumptions, prudence would suggest a need to hold a higher level of 
general reserves to provide for risks which are not mitigated through specific, 
earmarked, reserves.  Cabinet is therefore recommended to continue to set a 
level of general reserve at 10% of its budget requirement. This 10% 
recommendation sets an operating range therefore be set between £18.8m to 
£37.6m.  Outside of these parameters, intervention will be required to lower 
or raise the general fund balance. 
 

22.4 As reported in the 2022/23 outturn report General Fund reserves have 
increased from £28.2m as at 31st March 2020 to £34.75m as at 31 March 
2023. An update on the reserves position as at 31st March 2024 will be 
included in the 2023/24 outturn report presented to Cabinet in the summer of 
2024.  The increase in General Fund reserves demonstrates the continued 
commitment to this prudent financial management. 
 

  

Page 53

https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s35211/Draft%20Cabinet%20Outurn%20report%20and%20Appendix%20A.pdf


Other reserves and reserves strategy 

22.5 As well as the general fund, the Council has other earmarked reserves which 
are earmarked for a specific purpose.  Typically, these are set aside to 
mitigate against specific risks that may arise during the year or beyond or 
they are restricted to only being used for a specific purpose e.g. s106 
balances.  These reserves cannot be repurposed without impacting on the 
mitigation they provide against the risk profile of the organisation.  A fuller 
narrative on risks and reserves was provided as part of the 2022/23 outturn 
report to Cabinet and no change to those reserves is proposed at this stage 
other than for the general fund. 
 

22.6 As reported in the 2022/23 outturn report earmarked reserves have increased 
from £85.4m as at 31st March 2020 to £140.1m as at 31st March 2023. An 
update on the reserves position as at 31st March 2024 will be included in the 
2023/24 outturn report presented to Cabinet in the summer of 2024. 

 
22.7 In its policy announcement on 12 December, Government signalled its 

intention to sustain focus on the levels of councils’ reserves, particularly given 
the substantial increases in balances seen at some councils during the 
pandemic years.  The Government will explore a potential user-friendly 
publication on local authority reserves, using data currently collected through 
the local authority revenue expenditure and financing (outturn) statistics.  The 
exact use to which this information will be put remains uncertain at this stage. 
 
Contingency budget 

22.8 It is prudent for any organisation to set a contingency budget to provide for 
unforeseeable circumstances arising during the year.  The key is to set the 
contingency budget as accurately as possible, so it strikes a good balance 
between allowing the organisation to manage risk whilst not causing a 
diversion of material funds away from front line services where there are 
clearly continuing pressures. 

 
22.9 For 2023/24, the contingency budget was set at £8.6m and provided for some 

fairly specific risks around inflation and pay award costs being in excess of 
funding provided in services own base budgets.  These risks remain, 
although as part of the proposed 2024/25 budget a number of these risks and 
reasons for using the contingency in 2023/24 have now been provided for as 
part of rebasing some elements of the budget in 2024/25.  As a result there is 
the potential to prudently reduce the amount required in the contingency 
budget.  Therefore, it is recommended that the Council sets the contingency 
budget at £5m.   
 
Resilience  
 

22.10 The proposed level of the general fund, the specific, earmarked reserves  
available, and the contingency budget all support resilience alongside a 
robust budget process that has taken place during the budget setting 
process. 
 

Page 54

https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s35211/Draft%20Cabinet%20Outurn%20report%20and%20Appendix%20A.pdf
https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s35211/Draft%20Cabinet%20Outurn%20report%20and%20Appendix%20A.pdf


22.11 The Council is also continuing to develop its value for money framework  
and reports are regularly taken to Audit & Governance Committee on this 
subject.  Value for money is a key and continuing cornerstone of good 
governance and it is essential that it is embedded in every financial decision 
we make.  Given the financial pressures that are building in the system, and 
continuing price and demand pressures on the Council’s budgets, value for 
money is essential in managing what are essentially cash-limited funds whilst 
delivering excellent value services for residents. 

 
23 Capital programme [Note Section to be updated with latest Q3 figures 

for 30th January Cabinet] 

23.1 The Council’s capital programme has been significantly impacted by inflation 
in the construction sector which continues to cause delays to work. 

 
23.2 Increases in the Minimum Revenue Provision budget (MRP) and Interest Paid 

budget have been factored in to the 2024/25 revenue budget to meet the 
needs of the existing capital programme. Since the capital programme was 
set, interest rates have continued to rise which has meant the revenue impact 
to the capital programme has increased.  

 
23.3 At this stage, the S151 Officer is therefore advising against further projects 

being approved as part of the budget setting process. If the Council proceeds 
within the currently agreed capital total, there will be no further pressure on 
the revenue budget in 2024/25.   
 

23.4 Given the finite resources, both in terms of financial resources as well as 
capacity within staff/contractor resources the Capital programme over the 
short term is essentially fully committed. 
 

23.5 However, there are opportunities to deliver additional projects through 
exploring the following options: 
 
a) Self-funding – projects which deliver future reduced costs or generate 

income that are at least equal to the financing costs of the delivery are 
able to be added to the programme without putting further pressure on 
central financing costs. Examples of this could include housing projects 
where the cost of spot purchasing short term temporary accommodation 
is more expensive than the fixed financing costs and ongoing property 
management costs.  
 

b) Increased capital receipts – the capital programme assumes £12.1m of 
receipts over the 4-year plan. In the event that additional capital receipts 
are realised, this can be used to fund further capital delivery without 
incurring additional interest costs. 
 

  

Page 55



c) Changes to interest rates – The UK is currently experiencing much 
higher interest rates than have been seen in recent years.  At the time of 
writing 30 year borrowing via PWLB is in excess of 5%.  If interest rates 
were to materially reduce, this would reduce the financing costs 
associated with capital programmes.  This could mean the current 
budgets for interest payable, could then be allocated to new projects as 
the Council could afford higher levels of capital spend. 
 

d) External contributions – projects which are fully or partially funded by 
external contributions (grants, S106/CIL, developers contributions etc.) all 
have reduced financing costs as these external contributions reduce the 
amount of money required to be borrowed to deliver the scheme. 

 
23.6 The Capital Strategy and capital programme for the MTFP period, which 

totalled almost £350m, was agreed by Cabinet in March 2023.  Since that 
date there have been further updates, so the programme as at Q2 of 2023/24 
stands at £357.2m for the next five years, as summarised in the table below. 
 

 

 

23.7 The budget movements in 2023/24 are outlined in the table below; 
 

 
 
 

2023/24

£'000

2024/25

£'000

2025/26

£'000

2026/27

£'000

2027/28

£'000

Total

Budget

23/24-27/28

Full external funding 10,712 9,340 485 95 0 20,632

Partial external funding 72,490 8,311 0 0 0 80,801

Partial external funding 0 40,310 23,652 29,563 0 93,525

Council funded 25,688 33,560 25,315 (7,811) (10,400) 66,352

Funded from other Reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0

Capital Receipts Applied 1,000 9,100 1,000 1,000 1,000 13,100

Minimum Revenue Provision 10,053 12,553 13,953 15,103 17,000 68,662

Self Funded 840 5,705 4,065 2,565 914 14,089

Total funding 120,783 118,879 68,470 40,515 8,514 357,161

Total Budget

Capital Programme

Directorate 01/04/2023 Adjustments Re-profiling New funding 31/12/2023

£,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000

Adults & Housing 17,346 0 -9,637 4,759 12,468

Childrens 17,580 152 -5,151 6,480 19,061

Place 95,501 -8,515 -29,531 25,908 83,363

Corporate 4,978 1,558 -1,145 500 5,891

Total 135,405 -6,805 -45,464 37,647 120,783

Page 56



23.8 The spend to date against the 2023/24 capital budget is shown below: 
 

 
 

23.9 There are likely to be further projects and programmes that arise during the 
year through funding from external resources, and these will be incorporated 
into the programme and reported to Cabinet each quarter. 
 

23.10 Members may wish to note the proposals to continue with a capital 
contingency budget and a minor works budget.  Both of these currently work 
well and allow flexibility to address unforeseeable pressures that arise in the 
year without recourse to Cabinet in advance.   
 

24 Engagement with and scrutiny of the budget [Note, section to be 
updated post-scrutiny, factoring in committee feedback] 

24.1 The proposals set out in this Budget Strategy and MTFP have been 
developed over a considerable period.  The Council operates a ten-year, 
rolling financial model and this is consolidated into a five-year MTFP, the first 
year of which is the budget.  Although the proposals for 2024/25 have 
therefore been some time in the making, it is in the year of preparation that 
any budget proposals come under most scrutiny. 

 
24.2 In order to make the development of the budget inclusive, there have been a 

number of cross-party engagement sessions for all members as well as 
specific budget task and finish groups which have taken place during the 
year.  There are also specific directorate-focused arrangements in place for 
Portfolio Holders and Lead Members and any member can ask questions or 
request information about financial management at any point. 

 
24.3 As well as quarterly financial reports to Cabinet to keep all members abreast 

of budget development, there is also a separate and specific paper on early 
stages of budget process, principles and strategy which went to Cabinet in 
November 2023.  Following this, was a good level of member engagement 
before during and after the two informal briefing events that took place prior to 
the meeting of the People and Health Scrutiny Committee and the Place and 
Resources Scrutiny Committee on 12 & 17 January 2024.  Feedback from 
both Committees along with Cabinet responses [will be] set out in Appendix 6 
[Appendix 6 will be available for Cabinet]. 
 

24.4 Cabinet [will be] receiving all of these, post-scrutiny proposals for 
consideration and recommendation to full Council in February 2024. 

  

Directorate
No. of 

projects
Project Budget

Spend / 

Commitments
Variance % Spent

£,000 £,000 £,000

Adults & Housing 15 12,468 8,866 3,602 71%

Childrens 18 19,061 8,195 10,866 43%

Place 149 83,363 47,651 35,711 57%

Corporate 9 5,891 1,461 4,430 25%

Total 191 120,783 66,173 54,609 55%

Page 57



25 Consultation, communication and equality 

25.1 The 2024/25 budget proposals are driven by the Dorset Council Plan and 
priorities. The Plan was initially agreed by Council in February 2020 following 
wide consultation with partners, the public, local businesses, Town and 
Parish Councils, employees, and other stakeholders throughout Dorset. More 
than 1,600 responses were received through the consultation, and these 
were used to shape - and continue to shape - the new Council’s priorities, as 
reflected in the budget proposals and MTFP.  
 

25.2 As an integral part of the Council's budget planning, the process of setting 
Council Tax involves consultations with major precepting authorities, 
including the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner, the Dorset and 
Wiltshire Fire and Rescue Service, and local precepting authorities such as 
town and parish councils.  During this budgetary procedure, the Council 
engages with these preceptors to thoroughly understand and incorporate their 
individual budget requirements.  These consultations specifically focus on 
proposed plans for Council Tax levels and the respective precept needs of 
the preceptors. 

 
25.3 This collaborative approach ensures that Council Tax rates are set in a 

manner that aligns not only with the Council's financial strategy but also takes 
into account the needs of the preceptors within our community. 
 

25.4 The Executive Director for Place also leads consultation with the business 
sector and managers throughout the organisation share information regularly 
with businesses in the supply chain to ensure they are aware of and can 
contribute to the conversations around priorities and resources. 

 
26 S151 Officer assurance 

26.1 Part 2 (Section 25) of the Local Government Act 2003 requires officers with 
responsibilities under s151 of the Local Government Act 1972 to make a 
statement regarding the robustness of estimates and the adequacy of 
reserves at the time the budget is set. 

 
26.2 There are also other safeguards aimed at ensuring local authorities do not 

over-commit themselves financially.  These include: 
 

a) the Chief Financial Officer's powers under section 114 of the Local 
Government Act 1988, which requires a report to the Cabinet and to all 
members of the local authority if there is or is likely to be unlawful 
expenditure or an unbalanced budget; 

b) the Local Government Finance Act 1992, which requires a local authority 
to calculate its budget requirement for each financial year, including the 
revenue costs which flow from capital financing decisions. The Act also 
requires an authority to budget to meet its expenditure after taking into 
account other sources of income. This is known as the balanced budget 
requirement; 

Page 58



c) the Prudential Code, introduced under the Local Government Act 2003, 
which has applied to capital financing and treasury management 
decisions; 

d) the assessment of the financial performance and standing of the authority 
by the external auditors, who give their opinion on the Council and the 
value for money it provides as part of their annual report to those charged 
with governance. 

26.3 The robustness of the budget critically depends on the maintenance of a  
sound financial control environment including effective financial management 
in each of the Council’s service directorates.  Dorset Council’s scheme of 
financial management sets out the responsibilities of all those involved in 
managing budgets and incurring commitments on behalf of the Council.  The 
revised financial strategy statement is also a key document in setting out 
financial management arrangements, responsibilities and strategy for the 
Council. 
 

26.4 Whilst financial projections are based on realistic assumptions, known 
demand and well-formed models, some budgets are subject to a degree of 
estimation error as actual expenditure can be determined by factors outside 
of the Council’s control, for example demand for provision for adults with 
complex needs.  Some activity is also subject to more volatility and things can 
change very quickly and unexpectedly. 
 

26.5 It is also generally not appropriate or affordable to increase budgets simply  
to reflect overspends in current or previous years.  A reasonable degree of 
challenge to manage within the resources available is necessary and 
monitoring of expenditure, in order to take corrective action if necessary, is 
particularly important during a time of budget reductions. 
 

26.6 The Council has well-developed arrangements for financial monitoring  
during the year.  Budget performance is reported quarterly through the 
Cabinet and scrutinised by a number of other committees, including Audit & 
Governance Committee.  There is also a well-defined model of finance staff 
working as business partners alongside service managers to support financial 
management and control.  The Council’s financial management system also 
operates on a self-service basis, enabling all officers to interrogate financial 
information at any point in time.   
 

26.7 Finance business partners routinely report to Directorate Leadership  
Teams each month and the S151 Officer meets weekly with the Cabinet 
Member for Finance, Commercial & Capital Strategy.  There is also an officer 
group - Capital Strategy and Asset Management Group (CSAM) - that 
monitors progress against the current capital programme and deals with the 
pre-Cabinet governance arrangements for managing the bidding and 
financing process for all capital expenditure proposals to Cabinet. 

  

Page 59



26.8 Member involvement in budget development has been extensive again  
this year, particularly through meetings of the Performance Leadership 
Board, regular update reports to the Portfolio Holder, Leader and Deputy 
Leader, the wider Cabinet and in all-member briefings as well as the task and 
finish groups.  
 

26.9 The budget itself has also been subjected to all-councillor scrutiny, firstly  
through two briefing sessions, led by Portfolio Holders and Executive 
Directors, then more formally through the People and Health, and the Place 
and Resources Scrutiny Committees which were held in January 2024.  
These budget proposals have therefore been developed by the Council’s 
officer group, led by the Executive Directors, and with significant input from 
members, and co-ordination by the finance team.  In order to gain further 
assurance about the affordability of the Council’s strategy and plans, each 
Executive Director is taking personal responsibility for their budget through a 
formal sign-off process which will also form part of their performance 
assessment during the year. 

 

26.10 The Internal Audit Service have worked alongside the Council observing the 
budget setting process. Taking all these factors into consideration, I consider 
that the estimates prepared in line with the strategy explained in this report to 
be robust. 

 
26.11 I also consider the levels of reserves, as set out earlier in this report, to be 

adequate for the risks that the Council is currently able to anticipate.  The 
deferring of the end date of the Regulations around the DSG overspend is 
helpful in providing this assurance but the longer-term risk remains and the 
Council is focused on delivering the conditions of the Safety Valve agreement 
which will eventually remove this risk.   

 
26.12 Despite the steps taken to gain assurance and the processes, controls and 

monitoring that the Council has in place, the challenge and complexity of 
managing activity and associated expenditure within these estimates should 
not be underestimated.  Against the backdrop of the events of the last two 
and a half years, and our inability to be more certain over funding 
arrangements beyond the first year of our MTFP, the future will therefore 
remain challenging and balancing future years’ budgets will require sustained 
transformation. Continued, close monitoring – as referenced in our 
processes, above - will be required during the year and prompt action will be 
needed if performance and forecasts vary materially from budget. 

  

Page 60



27 Summary and conclusions 
 

27.1 The financial climate remains extremely challenging.  Although the Spending 
Review will allow us to make progress in many key areas of transformation 
and service improvement, a single-year settlement for local government still 
hampers our ability to invest effectively in future service strategy.   

 
27.2 There are clearly still challenges ahead meaning the Council started planning 

for 2024/25 early to develop and implement robust plans to fit within our 
assumed budget envelope and to keep all members well informed around 
budget development and strategy. 

 
27.3 Members of the two scrutiny committees have considered the information in 

the draft budget proposals as part of their scrutiny processes and their 
feedback and recommendations are set out in Appendix 7 for Cabinet’s 
consideration. 

 
27.4 Whilst I believe these budget estimates to be robust and that reserves are 

adequate, significant risk remains due to the global economic environment. 
 
 
Aidan Dunn 
Executive Director of Corporate Development 
 
 

Page 61



Appendix 1 – Budget summary 

Original Budget 2024/25 £'000 
Pay 

£'000 
Non-Pay 

£'000 
Fees & 

Charges 

£'000 
Grants 

/Funding 

£'000 
Movement 

in Balances 

£'000 
Net 

Budget 
(2024-25)  

People Services – Adults & 
Housing 

33,835 214,532 (70,288) (23,431) (261) 154,387 

Service user related 253 191,016 (55,341) (16,398) 0 119,531 

Adult Care Ops 21,834 330 (4,910) (106) 0 17,147 

Commissioning 5,375 12,549 (4,973) (4,291) (261) 8,399 

Director Office 799 3,114 0 (736) 0 3,177 

Housing 5,158 7,521 (5,063) (1,900) 0 5,716 

Building Better Lives 416 2 0 0 0 418 

Corporate Development 33,744 77,510 (12,793) (64,804) (2,975) 30,682 

Finance & Commercial 12,552 71,343 (9,001) (64,804) 0 10,090 

Human Resources 6,150 354 (2,253) 0 (279) 3,971 

Digital & Change 3,102 91 (102) 0 (748) 2,343 

ICT Ops 5,848 4,240 (1,320) 0 0 8,768 

Director (88) 155 0 0 0 67 

BI & Performance 1,382 19 0 0 0 1,401 

Comms & Engagement 1,253 159 (37) 0 0 1,375 

Community Grants 386 972 0 0 0 1,358 

Chief Executive Office 1,136 173 0 0 0 1,309 

Transformation 1,494 0 0 0 (1,494) 0 

Climate & Ecological 530 4 (81) 0 (454) 0 

Place 73,798 108,169 (65,865) (5,816) (311) 109,975 

Economy, Infrastructure, Growth 25,910 59,000 (27,511) (4,799) (645) 51,955 

Place 34,936 37,520 (27,051) (684) 588 45,309 

Customer Services, Libraries, 
Archives 

7,552 2,358 (1,756) (333) 0 7,822 

Directors Office 499 1,687 (1) 0 0 2,185 

Assets & Regeneration 4,900 7,605 (9,547) 0 (254) 2,704 

People - Children 50,962 54,137 (7,307) (13,329) 0 84,462 

Quality and Assurance 2,922 210 (329) (19) 0 2,784 

Care & Protection 22,379 44,801 0 (4,341) 0 62,838 

Commissioning & Partnerships 8,020 (2,882) (3,314) (667) 0 1,158 

Education & Learning 13,686 3,508 (2,316) (1,659) 0 13,219 

Director's 3,954 8,500 (895) (6,643) 0 4,916 

DSG Recharge 0 0 (454) 0 0 (454) 

Legal & Democratic 5,973 2,853 (1,139) 0 0 7,687 

Assurance 1,227 585 (61) 0 0 1,751 

Democratic & Electoral 1,145 2,118 (136) 0 0 3,127 

Land Charges 482 1 (750) 0 0 (268) 

Legal 3,119 150 (192) 0 0 3,077 

Public Health 4,284 22,859 (13,521) (13,622) 0 0 

Public Health 4,284 22,859 (13,521) (13,622) 0 0 

Central Finance 7,178 10,897 (4,697) (29,147) 4,829 (10,939) 

General funding 5,473 (167) (697) (29,034) (12,041) (36,467) 

Capital financing 0 10,257 (4,000) 0 11,901 18,158 

Contingency 0 0 0 0 4,969 4,969 

Precepts 0 788 0 (112) 0 676 

Retirement Costs 1,705 19 0 0 0 1,725 

Total Non-Schools Budget 209,774 490,957 (175,610) (150,149) 1,282 376,254 

Schools Budget 0 330,108 0 (330,108) 0 0 

Page 62



Original Budget 2024/25 £'000 
Pay 

£'000 
Non-Pay 

£'000 
Fees & 

Charges 

£'000 
Grants 

/Funding 

£'000 
Movement 

in Balances 

£'000 
Net 

Budget 
(2024-25)  

Budget Requirement 2024/25 209,774 821,064 (175,610) (480,257) 1,282 376,254 

FUNDING       

Business rates Top Up 277     (63,976) 

Revenue Support Grant (RSG) 277     (698) 

Council Tax Surplus 277     (307,876) 

New Homes Bonus 277     (938) 

Rural Services Delivery Grant 277     (2,766) 

      (376,254) 

Page 63



Appendix 1b 

Cost type analysis – budget 2024/25 

 

 

 

  

Cost Type

Original 

Budget 

2024/25

£'000
Internal Charges (Expenditure) 9,467

Authority (Democratic)Costs 1,939

Pay Related Costs 209,774

Premises Related Costs 22,822

Transport Related Costs 35,719

Supplies and Services 445,450

Transfer Payments 133,029

Levies & Precepts 788

Third Party (Contracted Out) 

Payments
170,906

Net Schools Budget 945

Contingency and Movement in 

Reserves
1,282

Gross Expenditure 1,032,121

Government Grants (Specific) (480,257)

Income, Fees & Charges (175,610)

Gross Income (655,867)

Budget Requirement 376,254

Council Tax 307,876

Business Rates 63,976

New Homes Bonus 938

Rural Services Delivery Grant 2,766

Revenue Support Grant 698

Total Funding 376,254

Page 64



Appendix 1c 

Dorset Council summary movements in budget 2023/24 to 2024/25 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 65



 
 
 
Appendix 1d 

Adults Services & Housing – summary of movements 

 

Adults and Housing base budget position 2023/24 after adjustments £147,218,371 

  

Pay inflation £1,391,184 

General Inflation £6,130,881 

Fees and Charges income (£1,726,747) 

Gas and Electricity costs £154 

Cost of increments & pay award  £950,234 

Increase in business rates £3,119 

Pressures  
Growth in Adults £6,920,160 

Housing Benefit subsidy shortfall £1,500,000 

  

Savings  
Market management (£5,000,000) 

Working age accelerator (£500,000) 

HomeFirst Accelerator (£926,000) 

Accommodation with support (£74,000) 

Commissioned Community Care (£1,500,000) 

  

Adults and Housing current base budget for 2024/25 £154,387,356 

  

Increase in base £7,168,985 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 66



 

 

 

 

Appendix 1e 

Corporate Development and Legal & Democratic Services – summary of 
movements 

 

Corporate Services base position 2023/24 after adjustments £35,626,263 
  

Pay inflation £1,802,013 

General inflation £141,153 

Fees and Charges income (£198,624) 

Gas and Electricity costs £0 

Cost of increments & pay award  £1,014,056   

Pressures 
 

Pay awards for 23/24 & 24/25 will increase Apprenticeship Levy £70,220 

Scrutiny Support Officer £46,586 

Graduates £45,800 

LGA registration Fees £6,400 

IT additional costs for DC overall support £614,000 

Income shortfall due to reduced demand £63,000 

External Audit Fees £288,700   

  

Savings 
 

Automate invoice processing within the financial exchequer team (£30,000) 

Improved debt recovery by centralising invoicing/debt function – saving 
the organisation money in reduced debt write offs. Value is the net effect 
as would bring in an additional post to chase more debt. 

(£150,000) 

Risk based budget monitoring (£50,000) 

IT Savings (£741,000) 

Climate business rates retention (£179,864) 

Corporate Services current base budget for 2024/25 £38,368,703 
  

Increase in base £2,742,440 

 

 

 

Page 67



 

 

 

Appendix 1f - Place – summary of movements 

 £ 

  

Place base position 2023/24 after adjustments £86,648,730 

  

Pay inflation £3,306,365 

General inflation £1,599,004 

Increase in business rates £176,920 

Fees and Charges income (£2,522,236) 

Gas and Electricity costs £398,417 

Additional cost of pay award & increments £2,814,808 

  

Pressures  

Reduction in school joint use allocation £729,995 
DIY charges at HRC £500,000 

Permanent base budget of CD Assets and Property £157,500 

Realignment of DMR budget £1,079,000 

Leisure contracts increase £54,000 

Community Safety costs £45,000 

Waste disposal tonnages £364,000 

Housing cost recovery - saving no longer being achieved £65,000 

Public toilet closure - saving no longer being achieved £84,000 

Tourism income not achieved £40,000 

Ash die-back costs £150,000 

Coast and Greenspace general pressure £17,000 

Leisure general pressure £3,000 

Flood and coastal general pressure £42,000 

Dorchester Market £68,000 

POPs pressure £508,000 

Waste operations general pressure £384,000 

Fleet staff savings no longer being achieved £50,000 

Dorset Travel overspend in 2023/24 £6,900,000 

Waste strategy contract prices over and above inflation £452,000 

Dorset Travel growth for 2024/25 £5,100,000 

Waste Strategy HRC uplift £234,000 

Apprentices for Greenspace £220,000 

Page 68



Out of Hours Service (full year effect - £400k) £140,000 

Realignment of Car Parking income £3,500,000 

Realignment of premises related costs £304,600 

Planning reduction of income £900,000 

Savings  

Coombe House & SWH income (£100,000) 

Withdrawal from QE (£331,000) 

Asset & regeneration operational savings (£140,969) 

Waste trade and garden additional income (£500,000) 

Glass recyclate savings (£325,000) 

Realignment of fuel (£250,000) 

Place Service operating efficiencies (£582,000) 

Economic Growth & Infrastructure Vacancy/Sickness management (£484,000) 

Highways operating efficiences (£225,000) 

Increase in Highways income (£484,299) 

Increase income from Libraries, CSU and Archives (£165,000) 

Customer Services operating efficiencies  (£190,056) 

Archives operating efficiencies (£55,000) 

Libraries operating efficiencies (£47,000) 

Holiday lets - trade waste (£50,000) 

Reduction in vehicle parts (£30,000) 

Place Services vacancy management (£70,000) 

Street cleaning reduction (£350,000) 

Reduction in agency costs - Waste ops  (£159,076) 

  

Place current base budget for 2024/25 £109,974,703 

  

Increase in base £23,325,973 

 

  

Page 69



Appendix 1g - Children’s Services – summary of movements 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Children's base position 2023/24 after adjustments £77,760,595

Pay inflation £2,235,340

General inflation £1,488,725

Fees and Charges income (£112,591)

Gas and Electricity costs £5,407

Increase in business rates £9,986

Cost of increments & pay award £1,383,773

Pressures

Children in Care financial growth £1,355,918

Grow our own social workers £220,000

High Needs Recharges £250,000

July forecast pressures £2,000,000

Unaccompanied Children £300,000

LAG Funding £600,000

Removal of the part-traded services income target £600,000

CWAD demand pressure £500,000

B2SA Head of Service £115,000

Savings

Childrens Home Project

Our Family Digital Offer (£750,000)

Family Hubs (£750,000)

Mockingbird (£750,000)

Safeguarding Families Together (£1,250,000)

Birth to Settled Adulthood (£750,000)

Children's current base budget for 2024/25 £84,462,153

Increase in base £6,701,558

Page 70



Appendix 1h 

Central budgets – summary of movements 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Central Finance base budget position 2023/24 after 

adjustments £299,017

Changes to rates (£190,025)

Decrease in grants £141,980

Interest paid for capital programme £660,000

Reduction in bad debt provision (£500,000)

Contribution from Health £2,500,000

Reduction in contingency (£3,600,000)

Savings from Our Future Council Programme (£12,040,831)

Increase in MRP £1,500,000

Increase in levy costs £50,500

LGPS secondary rate £240,000

Central Finance current base budget for 2024/25 (£10,939,359)

Increase in base (£11,238,376)

Page 71



 

Appendix 1i 

Sources of funding  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 72



Appendix 1j 

How the budget is spent  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 73



Appendix 1k – Budget changes from 2023/24 to 2024/25 

  

£'000 
 Net Budget 

2024/25 

£'000 
 Net Budget 

2023/24   

£'000 Change 
from 2023/24 

- 2024/25 

People Services - Adults 154,387 147,218   7,169 

Service user related 119,531 118,417   1,113 

Adult Care Ops 17,147 15,243   1,904 

Commissioning 8,399 6,535   1,863 

Director Office 3,177 2,606   572 

Housing 5,716 4,030   1,686 

Building Better Lives 418 387   31 

          

Corporate Development 30,682 28,553   2,129 

Finance & Commercial 10,090 9,006   1,084 

Human Resources 3,971 3,538   433 

Digital & Change 2,343 2,160   183 

ICT Ops 8,768 8,581   188 

Director 67 35   32 

BI & Performance 1,401 1,323   79 

Comms & Engagement 1,375 1,249   127 

Community Grants 1,358 1,333   25 

Chief Executive Office 1,309 1,161   148 

Climate & Ecological 0 169   (169) 

          

Place 109,975 86,649   23,326 

Economy, Infrastructure, Growth 51,955 35,225   16,731 

Place 45,309 40,959   4,350 
Customer Services, Libraries, 
Archives 7,822 7,412   410 

Directors Office 2,185 596   1,589 

Assets & Regeneration 2,704 2,458   247 

          

People - Children 84,462 77,761   6,702 

Quality and Assurance 2,784 2,625   159 

Care & Protection 62,838 57,437   5,401 

Commissioning & Partnerships 1,158 4,034   (2,876) 

Education & Learning 13,219 11,653   1,566 

Director's 4,916 2,715   2,201 

DSG Recharge (454) (704)   250 
  
          

Page 74



  

£'000 
 Net Budget 

2024/25 

£'000 
 Net Budget 

2023/24   

£'000 Change 
from 2023/24 

- 2024/25 

Legal & Democratic 7,687 7,073   614 

Assurance 1,751 1,525   226 

Democratic & Electoral 3,127 3,021   106 

Land Charges (268) (369)   101 

Legal 3,077 2,896   181 

          

Public Health 0 0   0 

Public Health 0 0   0 

          

Central Finance (10,939) 299   (11,238) 

General funding (36,467) (26,618)   (9,849) 

Capital financing 18,158 15,998   2,160 

Contingency 4,969 8,569   (3,600) 

Precepts 676 626   51 

Retirement Costs 1,725 1,725   0 

          

Total Budget after adjustments 376,254 347,553  28,701 

  

Page 75



Appendix 2 

Council tax resolution  

(for Council paper only, intentionally blank for Cabinet and Scrutiny Committees 
reports) 

 

Appendix 3 – Capital Strategy 

 

To be included in cabinet report 

 

Appendix 4 - Treasury management strategy 

 

To be included in cabinet report 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 76



Appendix 5 – Climate wheel 

 

 

Natural Environment, Climate & Ecology Strategy 
Commitments 

Impact 

Energy minor positive impact 

Buildings & Assets major positive impact 

Transport major positive impact 

Green Economy major positive impact 

Food & Drink No known impact 

Waste minor positive impact 

Natural Assets & Ecology major positive impact 

Water major positive impact 

Resilience and Adaptation major positive impact 
  

Corporate Plan Aims Impact 

Prosperity strongly supports it 

Stronger healthier communities strongly supports it 

Sustainable Development & Housing strongly supports it 

Responsive & Customer Focused strongly supports it 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Unit

Ha 0

CO2 (tonnes) 0

 Quantitative Impact on CEE targets (if known)
Number of units (+/-)

2030 - Natural asset extent & condition

2040 - Operational Emissions

Carbon Neutral Council 2040

Carbon Neutral Dorset 2050

Nature Positive Dorset 2030

Minor negative impact

Mixed impact

No known impact

Minor positive impact

Major positive impact

Major negative impact

Page 77



  

TABLE OF RECOMMENDATIONS 

 Recommendations 
Responses -will this be incorporated into 
your proposal? How? And if not, why not? 

    

Energy   

Find out energy use of buildings that are being 
brought into the Dorset Council carbon footprint, 
as this will affect our ability to hit our carbon 
reduction targets   

Find out energy use of any new build buildings that 
are being added to the Dorset Council carbon 
footprint, as this will affect our ability to hit our 
carbon reduction targets   

Support the acceleration of heating and energy 
and water efficiency through cavity and solid wall 
insulation, draught proofing, improved glazing and 
shading, and high energy and water efficient smart 
appliances   

    

Buildings & Assets   

No recommendations found for this category   

    

Transport   

No recommendations found for this category   

    

Green Economy   

No recommendations found for this category   

    

Food & Drink   

No recommendations found for this category   

    

Waste   

Look at ways to reduce the amount of waste 
produced   

    

Natural Assets & Ecology   

No recommendations found for this category   

    

Water   

No recommendations found for this category   

    

Resilience & Adaptation   

No recommendations found for this category   

   

   

Page 78



 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 6 – Responses raised by Scrutiny Committee 

 

To be included in cabinet report 

 

Appendix 7 – Harbours Advisory Committee 

The Harbours Advisory Committee met on the 22 November 2023 and set out 
the harbours 2024/25 budget considerations.  The proposals are based on 
assumptions and principles that are consistent with those used for the rest of the 
Dorset Council budget. There are no specific items arising to draw to the 
attention of Cabinet or Council. 

 
Dorset Councils Harbours Budget and Fees Setting Report 1.pdf 

 

 

Appendix 8 – Flexible Capital Receipts Policy 

 

To be included in cabinet report 

 

 

Page 79

https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/documents/g5690/Public%20reports%20pack%2022nd-Nov-2023%2010.00%20Harbours%20Advisory%20Committee.pdf?T=10


This page is intentionally left blank



Place and Resources Scrutiny Committee 

Work Programme 
 

 

Meeting Date: 17 January 2024 – Budget scrutiny 

 

Report Title 
 

Aims and Objectives Lead Officers / Members Other Information 

Budget Scrutiny 
 
 
 
 

Consideration of the budget proposals 
with comments and recommendations 
to Cabinet on 30 January 2024 

Sean Cremer – Corporate 
Director – Finance & 
Commercial 
 
Cllr Gary Suttle – Portfolio 
Holder for Finance, 
Commercial & Capital 
Strategy 
 

 

 

Continued over… 

  

P
age 81

A
genda Item

 7



Meeting Date: 26 February 2024 

 

Report Title 
 

Aims and Objectives Lead Officers / Members Other Information 

Redlands Leisure and 
Community Park Update 
 
 
 
 

To review the position with the 
Redlands Community Sports Hub 
following the Cabinet decision of 6 
September 2022 

Paul Rutter – Service 
Manager for Leisure 
Services 
 
Cllr Laura Beddow – 
Portfolio Holder for Culture 
& Communities 
 

Recommendation from Cabinet 6 
September 2022 for the Place & 
Resources Scrutiny Committee to 
undertake a post decision review 

Dorset Council 20mph Speed 
Limit Policy 
 

To review the implementation of the 
policy one year after adoption 

Tony Burden – Road Safety 
Manager / Jack Wiltshire – 
Head of Highways 
 
Cllr Ray Bryan – Portfolio 
Holder for Highways, Travel 
& Environment 
 

 

Grid Capacity task and finish 
group – Final report 
 

The final report of the Place and 
Resources Scrutiny Committee’s grid 
capacity task and finish group, which 
was established to review the 
strategically significant issue of 
Dorset’s constrained grid capacity. 
The report will summarise its findings 
and recommendations on future 
actions. 
 

Antony Littlechild – 
Sustainability Team 
Manager / Carl Warom – 
Climate & Ecological Policy 
and Project Manager 
 
Cllr Ray Bryan – Portfolio 
Holder for Highways, Travel 
& Environment 
 

To make recommendations to Cabinet 
on 12 March 2024 

 

 

  

P
age 82



 

Meeting Date: 28 March 2024 

 

Report Title 
 

Aims and Objectives Lead Officers / Members Other Information 

Performance Scrutiny 
 
 
 
 

To review the most recent 
performance information and use this 
to agree items to add to the 
committee forward plan for further 
analysis 
 

David Bonner – Service 
Manager – BI & 
Performance 
 
Cllr Jill Haynes - Portfolio 
Holder for Corporate 
Development & 
Transformation 
 

 

 

 

Annual items: 

• Property Strategy & Asset Management Plan update – September 

• Corporate Complaints Team – Annual Report - November 
 

Bi-annual items: 

• Natural Environment, Climate & Ecology – progress report – July and November 
 

Alternate meeting items: 

• Performance Scrutiny – informal session held before each committee occurrence - July, November, March 
 

  

P
age 83



 

Informal Work of the Committee: 

 

Date 
 

Topic Format Members Lead Officers Other Information 

Quarterly 
 

Review of the 
committee’s performance 
and risk dashboards 
 

Informal meeting All committee 
members 

David Bonner – Service 
Manager Business 
Intelligence & Performance 

Review of the dashboards 
to identify potential future 
areas for review by the 
committee 
 

Commenced 
October 
2023 

Grid Capacity Task and Finish 
Group 

Councillors: 
Shane Bartlett 
Andy Canning 
Tony Ferrari (until 
December 2023) 
Brian Heatley 
Carole Jones 
Robin Legg 
David Tooke 
Kate Wheller 
 

Steven Ford – Corporate 
Director TIDE 
 
Antony Littlechild – 
Sustainability Team 
Manager 
 
Carl Warom – Climate & 
Ecological Policy and 
Project Manager 
 

First meeting held on 16 
October 2023. 
 
Meetings to be held 
October 2023 to January 
2024 
 

Tbc Water Quality 
 

Task and Finish 
Group 
 

tbc tbc  

 

P
age 84



 

 
The Cabinet Forward Plan - January 2024 - April 2024 

(Publication date – 21 DECEMBER 2023) 
Explanatory Note: 
This Forward Plan contains future items to be considered by the Cabinet and Council.  It is published 28 days before the next meeting of the Committee.  
The plan includes items for the meeting including key decisions.  Each item shows if it is ‘open’ to the public or to be considered in a private part of the 
meeting. 
 
Definition of Key Decisions 
Key decisions are defined in Dorset Council's Constitution as decisions of the Cabinet which are likely to - 

(a) to result in the relevant local authority incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the relevant 
local authority’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates (Thresholds - £500k); or 

(b) to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards or electoral divisions in the area of 
the relevant local authority.” 

In determining the meaning of “significant” for these purposes the Council will have regard to any guidance issued by the Secretary of State in 
accordance with section 9Q of the Local Government Act 2000 Act.  Officers will consult with lead members to determine significance and sensitivity. 
 

Cabinet Portfolio Holders 2023/24 
Spencer Flower   Leader / Governance, Performance and Communications 
Gary Suttle    Deputy Leader and Finance, Commercial and Capital Strategy 
Ray Bryan    Highways, Travel and Environment  
Jill Haynes   Corporate Development and Transformation  
Laura Beddow  Culture and Communities 
Simon Gibson  Economic Growth and Levelling Up 
Andrew Parry   Assets and Property 
Byron Quayle   People – Children, Education, Skills, and Early Help 
Jane Somper   People - Adult Social Care, Health, and Housing  
David Walsh    Planning 
 

P
age 85

A
genda Item

 8



 

January 2024 
 

 

Quarter 3 Financial Monitoring 
Report 2023/24 
 
Key Decision - No 
Public Access - Open 
 
To consider the Quarter 3 Financial 
Monitoring Report 2023/24. 

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 
 
 

Decision Date 
30 Jan 2024 
 

 
 
 

Deputy Leader and 
Portfolio Holder for 
Finance, Commercial 
and Capital Strategy 

Sean Cremer, Corporate 
Director for Finance and 
Commercial  
sean.cremer@dorsetcouncil
.gov.uk 
Executive Director, 
Corporate Development - 
Section 151 Officer (Aidan 
Dunn) 

Budget strategy and medium-term 
financial plan (MTFP) 
 
Key Decision - Yes 
Public Access - Open 
 
To consider a report of the Portfolio 
Holder for Finance, Commercial and 
Capital Assets.  

Decision Maker 
Dorset Council 
 
 

Decision Date 
13 Feb 2024 
 

Cabinet  
20 Jan 2024 
 
Place and Resources 
Scrutiny Committee 
17 Jan 2024  
 
People and Health Scrutiny 
Committee  
12 Jan 2024 

Deputy Leader and 
Portfolio Holder for 
Finance, Commercial 
and Capital Strategy 

Sean Cremer, Corporate 
Director for Finance and 
Commercial  
sean.cremer@dorsetcouncil
.gov.uk 
Executive Director, 
Corporate Development - 
Section 151 Officer (Aidan 
Dunn) 

Voluntary and Community Sector 
Strategy 
 
Key Decision - Yes 
Public Access - Open 
The new Voluntary and Community 
Sector Strategy aims to set out how 
Dorset Council will enable a thriving, 
sustainable and dynamic voluntary, 
and community sector to flourish and 
help improve the lives of individuals 
and communities in Dorset over 
coming years.  

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 
 
 

Decision Date 
30 Jan 2024 
 

 
 
 

Portfolio Holder for 
Culture and 
Communities 

Laura Cornette, Business 
Partner - Communities and 
Partnerships  
Laura.cornette@dorsetcoun
cil.gov.uk 
Executive Director, 
Corporate Development - 
Section 151 Officer (Aidan 
Dunn) 

Subject / Decision Decision Maker Date the 
Decision is 

Due 

Other Committee(s) 
consulted and 

Date of meeting(s) 

Portfolio Holder Officer Contact 

P
age 86



 
Subject / Decision Decision Maker Date the 

Decision is 
Due 

Other Committee(s) 
consulted and 

Date of meeting(s) 

Portfolio Holder Officer Contact 

Community Asset Transfer Policy 
 
Key Decision - No 
Public Access - Open 
 
Update of Community Asset Transfer 
Policy 

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 
 
 

Decision Date 
30 Jan 2024 
 

Place and Resources 
Overview Committee  
23 Jan 2024  
 

Portfolio Holder for 
Assets and Property 

Carly Galloway, Senior 
Projects, Contracts & 
Funding Manager  
carly.galloway@dorsetcoun
cil.gov.uk, Tim Hulme, Head 
of Assets and Property  
tim.hulme@dorsetcouncil.g
ov.uk 
Executive Director, Place 
(John Sellgren) 
 
 
 
 

Determination of Dorset Council's 
Admissions Arrangements 2025-
2026 
 
Key Decision - Yes 
Public Access - Open 
 
Annual duty for the Council to 
determine a suite of policies in 
relation to the Admissions 
Arrangements for Community and 
Voluntary Controlled Schools. These 
policies have to be determined by the 
26 February in the year prior to their 
implementation.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 
 
 

Decision Date 
30 Jan 2024 
 

 
 
 

Portfolio Holder for 
People - Children, 
Education, Skills and 
Early Help 

Ed Denham, School 
Admissions Manager  
ed.denham@dorsetcouncil.
gov.uk, Amanda Davis, 
Corporate Director for 
Education and Learning  
amanda.davis@dorsetcoun
cil.gov.uk 
Executive Director, People - 
Children (Theresa Leavy) 

P
age 87



 
Subject / Decision Decision Maker Date the 

Decision is 
Due 

Other Committee(s) 
consulted and 

Date of meeting(s) 

Portfolio Holder Officer Contact 

Pan-Dorset Safeguarding Children 
Partnership PDSCP Annual Report 
 
Key Decision - Yes 
Public Access - Open 
 
The PDSCP Annual Report provides 
an overview of multi-agency 
safeguarding practice over the year. It 
outlines key work within the 
partnership and priorities for 
forthcoming years. The RDSCP has a 
duty to produce an annual report 
under government guidance (working 
Together 2018). 
 
 
 

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 
 
 

Decision Date 
30 Jan 2024 
 

 
 
 

Portfolio Holder for 
People - Children, 
Education, Skills and 
Early Help 

Laurence Doe, PDSCP 
Business Manager  
laurence.doe@dorsetcounci
l.gov.uk 
Executive Director, People - 
Children (Theresa Leavy) 

A Devolution Deal for Dorset 
Expression of Interest 
 
Key Decision - Yes 
Public Access - Open 
 
To seek approval to formulate an 
expression of interest with partner 
councils to make an application To 
seek approval to formulate an 
expression of interest with partner 
councils to make an application to 
Government for a devolution deal.to 
Government for a devolution deal. 
 
 
 
 

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 
 
 

Decision Date 
30 Jan 2024 
 

 
 
 

Portfolio Holder for 
Economic Growth and 
Levelling Up 

Steven Ford, Corporate 
Director for Transformation, 
Innovation, Digital, and 
Environment  
steven.ford@dorsetcouncil.
gov.uk 
Executive Director, Place 
(John Sellgren) 

P
age 88



 
Subject / Decision Decision Maker Date the 

Decision is 
Due 

Other Committee(s) 
consulted and 

Date of meeting(s) 

Portfolio Holder Officer Contact 

Dorset Harbours Five Year 
Business Plan 
 
Key Decision - Yes 
Public Access - Open 
 
To consider the Dorset Harbours Five 
Year Business Plan. 
 

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 
 
 

Decision Date 
30 Jan 2024 
 

Harbours Advisory 
Committee  
22 Nov 2023  
 

Portfolio Holder for 
Highways, Travel and 
Environment 

Ed Carter, Weymouth 
Harbour Master  
ed.carter@dorsetcouncil.go
v.uk 
Executive Director, Place 
(John Sellgren) 

Care Dorset Holdings Ltd Annual 
Performance Report 2023 
 
Key Decision - No 
Public Access - Open 
 
To consider the performance report 
produced by Care Dorset Holdings 
Ltd.  
 

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 
 
 

Decision Date 
30 Jan 2024 
 

Shareholder Committee for 
Care Dorset Holdings Ltd  
6 Dec 2023  
 

Portfolio Holder for 
People - Adult Social 
Care, Health and 
Housing 

Vivienne Broadhurst, 
Executive Director - People 
Adults  
Vivienne.broadhurst@dorse
tcouncil.gov.uk 
Executive Director, People - 
Adults 

Dorset Centre of Excellence 
Annual Performance Report 
November 2023 
 
Key Decision - No 
Public Access - Open 
 
To consider the performance report 
produced by Dorset Centre of 
Excellence.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 
 
 

Decision Date 
30 Jan 2024 
 

The Shareholder 
Committee for the Dorset 
Centre of Excellence 
(DCOE)  
20 Nov 2023  
 

Portfolio Holder for 
People - Children, 
Education, Skills and 
Early Help 

Theresa Leavy, Executive 
Director of People - 
Children  
theresa.leavy@dorsetcounc
il.gov.uk 
Executive Director, People - 
Children (Theresa Leavy) 

P
age 89



 
Subject / Decision Decision Maker Date the 

Decision is 
Due 

Other Committee(s) 
consulted and 

Date of meeting(s) 

Portfolio Holder Officer Contact 

Weymouth Regeneration - 
Levelling Up Fund Progress & Next 
Steps 
 
Key Decision - Yes 
Public Access - Part exempt 
 
To update Cabinet on progress since 
the November 2023 report and seeks 
approval for the step necessary to 
progress the relevant sites.  

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 
 
 

Decision Date 
30 Jan 2024 
 

 
 
 

Portfolio Holder for 
Economic Growth and 
Levelling Up 

Julian Wain, Strategic 
Property Advisor  
Julian.wain@dorsetcouncil.
gov.uk 
Executive Director, Place 
(John Sellgren) 

Land at Whitepit farm, 
Shillingstone 
 
Key Decision - Yes 
Public Access - Fully exempt 
 
A report seeking approval to the sale 
of Whitepit Farm, Shillingstone 

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 
 
 

Decision Date 
30 Jan 2024 
 

 
 
 

Portfolio Holder for 
Assets and Property 

Jon Morgan, Development 
Manager  
jon.morgan@dorsetcouncil.
gov.uk 
Executive Director, Place 
(John Sellgren) 

March 
 

 

Procurement Forward Plan Report 
- Over £500k (2023-2025) 
 
Key Decision - Yes 
Public Access - Open 
The Council defines a key decision, in 
terms of procurement activity, as 
those with financial consequence of 
£500k or more. This report will 
provide notice of the planned/known 
procurement activities that Cabinet 
will need to make a key decision on 
for 2024/25. 

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 
 
 

Decision Date 
12 Mar 2024 
 

 
 
 

Deputy Leader and 
Portfolio Holder for 
Finance, Commercial 
and Capital Strategy 

Dawn Adams, Service 
Manager for Commercial 
and Procurement  
dawn.adams@dorsetcounci
l.gov.uk 
Chief Executive (Matt 
Prosser) 

P
age 90



 
Subject / Decision Decision Maker Date the 

Decision is 
Due 

Other Committee(s) 
consulted and 

Date of meeting(s) 

Portfolio Holder Officer Contact 

Equality, Diversity & Inclusion 
(EDI) Strategy 
 
Key Decision - Yes 
Public Access - Open 
 
To seek approval of the refreshed 
EDI Strategy for Dorset Council.  

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 
 
 

Decision Date 
12 Mar 2024 
 

 
 
 

Portfolio Holder for 
Corporate 
Development and 
Transformation 

Jennifer Lowis, Head of 
Strategic Communications 
and Engagement  
jennifer.lowis@dorsetcounci
l.gov.uk, James Palfreman-
Kay, Equality, Diveristy & 
Inclusion Officer  
james.palfreman-
kay@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 
Executive Director, 
Corporate Development - 
Section 151 Officer (Aidan 
Dunn) 

Grid Capacity Task & Finish Group 
 
Key Decision - No 
Public Access - Open 
 
The final report of Place and 
Resources Scrutiny Committee’s grid 
capacity task and finish group, which 
was established to review the 
strategically significant issue of 
Dorset’s constrained grid capacity. 
The report will summarise its findings 
and recommendations for the future.  
 

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 
 
 

Decision Date 
12 Mar 2024 
 

Place and Resources 
Scrutiny Committee  
26 Feb 2024  
 

Portfolio Holder for 
Highways, Travel and 
Environment 

Antony Littlechild, 
Sustainability Team 
Manager  
antony.littlechild@dorsetcou
ncil.gov.uk, Carl Warom, 
Climate and Ecological 
Policy and Project Manager  
carl.warom@dorsetcouncil.
gov.uk 
Executive Director, Place 
(John Sellgren) 

BCP Local Plan consultation 
response 
 
Key Decision - Yes 
Public Access - Open 
 
Proposed for change set out in an 
invest to save business case.  

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 
 
 

Decision Date 
12 Mar 2024 
 

 
 
 

Portfolio Holder for 
Planning 

Terry Sneller, Strategic 
Planning Manager  
terry.sneller@dorsetcouncil.
gov.uk 
Executive Director, Place 
(John Sellgren) 

P
age 91



 
Subject / Decision Decision Maker Date the 

Decision is 
Due 

Other Committee(s) 
consulted and 

Date of meeting(s) 

Portfolio Holder Officer Contact 

Family Hub network development 
 
Key Decision - Yes 
Public Access - Open 
 
This report outlines proposals for the 
development of Dorset’s Family Hub 
Network Model in line with 
requirements of the DfE’s grant 
funded Transformation Programme, 
local need and strategic priorities. 

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 
 
 

Decision Date 
12 Mar 2024 
 

People and Health 
Overview Committee  
6 Feb 2024  
 

Portfolio Holder for 
People - Children, 
Education, Skills and 
Early Help 

Elizabeth Saunders, Interim 
Corporate Director of 
Commissioning  
elizabeth.saunders@dorset
council.gov.uk 
Executive Director, People - 
Children (Theresa Leavy) 

Business Case - commercialisation 
of digital innovation 
 
Key Decision - Yes 
Public Access - Open 
 
A business case looking at the costs 
and benefits of a special purpose 
vehicle to support the council's digital 
innovation ambitions. 

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 
 
 

Decision Date 
12 Mar 2024 
 

Place and Resources 
Overview Committee  
  
 

Portfolio Holder for 
Corporate 
Development and 
Transformation, 
Councillor Simon 
Gibson, Councillor 
Andrew Parry 

Nick Webster, Head of 
Growth and Economic 
Regeneration  
nicholas.webster@dorsetco
uncil.gov.uk, Colin Wood, 
Programme Manager - 5G 
and Mobile  
colin.wood@dorsetcouncil.g
ov.uk 
Executive Director, Place 
(John Sellgren) 

Allocation of S106 Funding for 
community facilities at Mampitts 
Green, Shaftesbury 
 
Key Decision - Yes 
Public Access - Open 
 
To determine the award of s106 
developer contribution funding for the 
delivery of community facilities at 
Mampitts Green, Shaftesbury 
 
 

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 
 

Decision Date 
12 Mar 2024 
 

 
 
 

Portfolio Holder for 
Planning 

Andrew Galpin, 
Infrastructure & Delivery 
Planning Manager  
andrew.galpin@dorsetcoun
cil.gov.uk, Mike Garrity, 
Head of Planning  
mike.garrity@dorsetcouncil.
gov.uk 
Executive Director, Place 
(John Sellgren) 

P
age 92



 
Subject / Decision Decision Maker Date the 

Decision is 
Due 

Other Committee(s) 
consulted and 

Date of meeting(s) 

Portfolio Holder Officer Contact 

Community Infrastructure Levy - 
Exception Circumstances Policy 
for the Purbeck area 
 
Key Decision - Yes 
Public Access - Open 
 
To agree and adopt the draft order. 

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 
 
 

Decision Date 
12 Mar 2024 
 

 
 
 

Portfolio Holder for 
Planning 

Andrew Galpin, 
Infrastructure & Delivery 
Planning Manager  
andrew.galpin@dorsetcoun
cil.gov.uk 
Executive Director, Place 
(John Sellgren) 

April 
 
 

 

Quarter 4 Financial Monitoring 
2023/24 
 
Key Decision - No 
Public Access - Open 
 
To consider the Quarter 4 Financial 
Monitoring Report 2024/25. 

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 
 
 

Decision Date 
16 Apr 2024 
 

 
 
 

Deputy Leader and 
Portfolio Holder for 
Finance, Commercial 
and Capital Strategy 

Sean Cremer, Corporate 
Director for Finance and 
Commercial  
sean.cremer@dorsetcouncil
.gov.uk 
Executive Director, 
Corporate Development - 
Section 151 Officer (Aidan 
Dunn) 

June 
 
 

 
 

P
age 93



 

10 

Private/Exempt Items for Decision 
Each item in the plan above marked as ‘private’ will refer to one of the following paragraphs.  

 
1. Information relating to any individual.   
2. Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual. 
3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information).   
4. Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter arising 

between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders under, the authority.   
5. Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings.   
6. Information which reveals that the shadow council proposes:- 

 (a)  to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed on a person; or 
(b)  to make an order or direction under any enactment.   

7. Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime.   
 
 

P
age 94



 

 
 
 
 

Date of committee: 7 November 2023 
Date published: 8 November 2023 
Date of implementation: 16 November 2023 

 
DECISIONS OF THE CABINET 

7 NOVEMBER 2023 
 

 
The following decisions were made by the Cabinet on 7 November 2023 and will 
come into force and may be implemented on 16 November 2023 unless the 
decision is called in for scrutiny. 
 

In accordance with the council’s constitution, any six members of the same 
relevant Scrutiny Committee may request the Monitoring Officer to ‘call-in’ a 
decision for scrutiny.  The Monitoring Officer will be provided with written notice 
that will identify the decision to be called-in and the ground for the call-in when the 
request is made. If satisfied that there are reasonable grounds for the proposed 
call-in, the Monitoring Officer will notify the decision-maker of the call-in within 5 
clear working days. The deadline for this request is 15 November 2023. 
 
The full call-in procedure is set out in the Constitution or for further information and 
advice please telephone Kate Critchel on 01305 252234 
 
 

 

 

Page 95



 
6   PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER- REPORT ON THE FINDINGS FORM 

THE PUBLIC CONSULTATION 
 
(a) That the DOG-related Public Spaces Protection Order be approved, as set out 

within the original report to Place and Resources Overview Committee of 5 
October 2023, (starting at paragraph 1.2 of the report) and  

 
(b) That the PSPO be reviewed after the winter period by the appropriate committee 

with a focus on Lyme Regis Front Town Beach.  
 

Reasons for the decision  
 
To protect public health, safety and animal welfare. 
To provide a new PSPO as required by the Anti-social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 
2014. 
To assist with the efficient use of enforcement resources. 
To recognise the public’s support, through the consultation responses, for certain 
restrictions required for public safety. 
To recognise and implement the requirements of the Equality legislation. 
 

 
7   QUARTER 2 FINANCIAL MONITORING 2023/24 

 
(a) That the senior leadership team’s forecast of the full year’s forecast outturn for the 

Council, made at the end of Quarter 2, including progress of the transformational 
and tactical savings incorporated into the budget, be noted. 

 
(b) That Cabinet identify the priority areas for changes to be made to close the in-year 

budget gap. 
 
(c) That Portfolio Holder’s work with officers to continue to identify and develop further 

in-year efficiencies and savings to minimise use of reserves. 
 
(d) That the capital programme for 2023/24 and updated capital plan for 2023/24 – 

2027/28 be noted.  
 

Reason for the decision 
 
The Council has responsibilities to deliver within its corporate plan and it must do this 
within the resources made available through the revenue and capital budgets for 2023/24.  
This report summarised the Council’s forecast financial performance for the year at the 
end of the second quarter. 

 
 

8   MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN (MTFP) AND BUDGET STRATEGY 
 
(a) That the updated cost pressures set out in this paper and the validation work that 

has been carried out on them, be noted.  
 

Page 96



(b) That the assumptions being used in the Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP), be 
agreed.  
 

(c) That the financial gap arising from (a) and (b) above be noted.  
 
(d) That 2024/25 principles for budget setting, be agreed. 
 
(e) That the approach to closing the budget gap set out in this paper, recognising that 

this is work in progress, be noted.  
 
(f) That Cabinet continue to press local MPs and work with peers to press the case for 

additional funding.  
 
(g) That Portfolio Holders work with officers to continue to identify and develop further 

efficiencies and savings. 
 
(h) That the next steps and timetable leading up to the 2024/25 budget which would 

presented to full Council on 13 February 2024, to be endorsed. 
 

Reason for the decision 
 
Councils were required by law to set a balanced budget. Essentially this means that 
expenditure is balanced by income without unsustainable use of one-off, or short-term 
sources of finance. 

The report before Cabinet on 7 November 2023 provided an update on the budget gap for 
2024/25 and the subsequent years of the MTFP and gave an update on progress on 
action/savings to date including the 2023/24 forecast performance against budget. 

 
10   OUR FUTURE COUNCIL 

 
(a) Cabinet endorsed the progress made on the Our Future Council programme, Phase 

1, as described in section 1.4. of the report to Cabinet on 7 November 2023. 
 
(a) That the continued expansion of Phase 1 to deliver identified and further savings 

across the organisation, aligned to the activity described in section 1.4. 3. of the 
report, be approved. 

 
(b) That the initiation of Phase 2 of Our Future Council programme aligned to and in 

support of the ongoing budget process and medium-term financial strategy, be 
endorsed. 

 
(c) That existing governance in place, to oversee the programme as it develops, 

through the council’s performance board and Our Future Council Programme 
Steering Group and officer board, be acknowledged.  

 
(d) That an update report on Phase 2 progress be received in early 2024. 

 
Reason for the decision 
 
Dorset Council has embarked on an ambitious programme called 'Our Future Council' 
putting our customers first and exploring new ways of working. The primary goal of this 

Page 97



programme was to bring about sustainable change and create a streamlined, digital and 
unified customer experience, resulting in better outcomes at a lower cost. 
 
The council aims to move beyond convergence and comprehensively review how it is 
organised. Central to this transformation was a renewed emphasis on our priorities, 
customers, and communities, with a resolute commitment to placing people and outcomes 
above our internal organisational boundaries and bureaucracy.     
 

11   EXPANSION OF FUNDED CHILDCARE OFFER FROM APRIL 2024 
 
That the approach to the expansion of funded childcare offer from April 2024 be adopted.  
 
Reason for the decision 
 
To ensure compliance with statutory duties and any subsequent related statutory guidance 

to ensure there was sufficient childcare for working families.  

 
12   MAKING CARE EXPERIENCE A PROTECTED CHARACTERISTIC - LOCAL 

ADOPTION 
 
(a) That the development of an agreed definition of care experienced for the purpose of 

making this a protected characteristic, be supported.  
 
(b) Cabinet agreed that ‘care experience’ would be treated as if it were a Protected 

Characteristic under the Equalities Act 2010 so that decisions on future services 
and policies made and adopted by Dorset Council were assessed and considered 
the impact on people with care experience. 

 
(c) That the amendment of Dorset Council’s Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy 

2021-2024 to reflect ‘care experience’ being treated as if it were a protected 
characteristic and the development of specific actions to reduce the disadvantage 
and discrimination that care experienced people face, be approved. 

 
Reasons for the decision  
 
Making care experience a protected characteristic would help to remove barriers to 
success for our care experienced young people and was in line with the recommendation 
to do so in the Independent Review of Children's Social Care, published in May 2022. 
 

13   FAMILIES FIRST FOR CHILDREN PATHFINDER 
 
That the approach to delivering the Families First for Children Pathfinder, as set out in the 
report to People and Health Overview Committee of 17 October 2023, be approved. 
 
Reason for the decision 
 
Participation in the Pathfinder programme was a huge opportunity for Dorset to shape the 

national transformation of children and families strategy and policy and to ensure that 

Dorset Council was well placed to implement these policy changes when they were rolled 

Page 98



out nationally.  Department for Education funding would be made available and would be 

used to support the required change.   

 
14   CHESIL BANK NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 2022-2023 

 
(a) That the Council makes the Chesil Bank Neighbourhood Plan 2022 – 2032 (as set 

out in Appendix A) part of the statutory development plan for the Chesil 
Neighbourhood Area. 

 
(b) That the Council offers its congratulations to Chesil Bank Parish Council and 

members of the Neighbourhood Plan Group in producing a successful 
neighbourhood plan.  

 
Reason for the decision  
 
To formally make the Chesil Bank Neighbourhood Plan 2022 - 2032 part of the statutory 
development plan for the Chesil Bank Neighbourhood Area. In addition, to recognise the 
significant amount of work undertaken by the Parish Council and members of the 
Neighbourhood Plan Group in preparing the plan and to congratulate the Councils and the 
Group on their success.      
 

15   WILTSHIRE LOCAL PLAN REGULATION 19 CONSULTATION RESPONSE 
 
(a) That the key issues upon which a detailed response be made to the Wiltshire Local 

Plan consultation as outlined in the report of 7 November 2023, be acknowledged.  
 
(b) That the responses to Wiltshire Council to the key issues be finalised in 

consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Planning.  
 
Reason for the decision  
 
To input into the Wiltshire Local Plan as it moves towards examination thereby fulfilling the 
Council’s obligations under the Duty to Cooperate. 

 
16   BLANDFORD WASTE MANAGEMENT CENTRE - UPDATE ON FINANCE AND 

LAND ACQUISITION 
 
(a) That the financial position of the project and progress to date be noted.  
 
(b) That the draft Order documents, including the latest draft Order Plan, as attached to 

the report of 7 November 2023, be agreed. 
 
Reason for the decision  
 
To deliver works approved be Cabinet to secure critical infrastructure in Blandford for the 
development of a strategic waste transfer facility in central Dorset which would provide the 
capacity to maximise the benefits of operational efficiency and resilience to provide 
business continuity.  
 
 

Page 99



17   WEYMOUTH REGENERATION - LEVELLING UP FUNDING AND APPROACH 
 
(a) That the successful bid to the Levelling Up fund and the approach and progress to 

date, be noted. 
 
(b) That the sum of £3.5m, be allocated to match funding as proposed to Department 

for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DHLUC) in the Council’s LUF 
(Levelling Up Fund) Bid from the approved Capital Programme.  

 
(c) That subject to agreement of DHLUC, authority be delegated to the Executive 

Director of Place, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Levelling Up and the 
Executive Director of Corporate Development, the decision to reallocate Levelling 
Up Funds from the proposed New Bond Street scheme to Weymouth Bowl site 
scheme, and other sites as appropriate. 

 
(d) That a further report to agree the approaches to development on the relevant sites 

be presented to a future meeting of Cabinet.  
 

Reason for the decision  
 
This decision brings members up to date on the progress of the Weymouth Waterside 
Regeneration bid to the Levelling Up Fund and takes the next steps to allow further 
progress.  
 
 
 

21   ACQUISITION OF THE FREEHOLD FOR LEASED LAND AT WOODLEAZE, 
FURZEHILL 
 
That the recommendations set out in the exempt report to Cabinet of 7 November 2023, 
be approved.  
 
Reason for the decision 
 
To agree the approach for the acquisition of leased land at Woodleaze, Furzehill.  
 

22   THE PROPOSED SALE OF CLAPCOTTS FARMSTEAD, SPETISBURY 
 
That the recommendations set out in the exempt report to Cabinet of 7 November 2023, 
be approved.  
 
Reason for the decision 
 
To agree the approach for the proposed sale of the Clapcotts Farmstead, Spetisbury.   
 

23   GRANT FUNDING FROM CIL FOR NITROGEN MITIGATION, POOLE HARBOUR 
CATCHMENT 
 
That the recommendations set out in the exempt report to Cabinet of 7 November 2023, 
be approved.  
 

Page 100



Reason for the decision 
 
To agree the approach for grant funding from CIL for nitrogen mitigation, Poole Harbour 
Catchment.    
 

Page 101



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 
 

Date of committee: 5 December 2023 
Date published: 5 December 2023 
Date of implementation: 13 December 2023 

 
DECISIONS OF THE CABINET 

5 DECEMBER 2023 
 

 
The following decisions were made by the Cabinet on 5 December 2023 and will 
come into force and may be implemented on 13 December 2023 unless the 
decision is called in for scrutiny. 
 

In accordance with the council’s constitution, any six members of the same 
relevant Scrutiny Committee may request the Monitoring Officer to ‘call-in’ a 
decision for scrutiny.  The Monitoring Officer will be provided with written notice 
that will identify the decision to be called-in and the ground for the call-in when the 
request is made. If satisfied that there are reasonable grounds for the proposed 
call-in, the Monitoring Officer will notify the decision-maker of the call-in within 5 
clear working days. The deadline for this request is 12 December 2023. 
 
The full call-in procedure is set out in the Constitution or for further information and 
advice please telephone Kate Critchel on 01305 252234 
 
 

 

 

Page 103



 
7   DORSET SHARED PROSPERITY FUND INVESTMENT PLAN 

 
(a) That the Dorset Shared Prosperity Fund Investment Plan and its accompanying 

Rural England Prosperity Fund addendum (attached in the appendix to the report of 
5 December 2023), be endorsed. 
 

(b) That authority be delegated to the Executive Director, Place to implement the 
Investment Plan and addendum.  

 
 

8   LEVELLING UP FUND LAND ACQUISITIONS 
 

(a) That authority be delegated to the Executive Director of Place, in consultation with 

the Portfolio Holder for Levelling Up and the Executive Director Corporate 

Development to conclude the acquisition of land at Newstead Road, Weymouth, 

subject to completed satisfactory decontamination report and gaining approval from 

DLUHC to movement of LUF funds. 

 

(b) That authority be delegated to the Executive Director of Place, in consultation with 

the Portfolio Holder for Levelling Up and the Executive Director Corporate 

Development to conclude the acquisition of Land to the west of Westwey Road, 

Weymouth, subject to completed satisfactory decontamination report, gaining 

approval from DLUHC to movement of LUF funds, and simultaneous purchase of 

the adjoining site. 

 
(c) That the submission of a formal application to Department for Levelling Up, Housing 

and Communities for the movement of Levelling Up funds from the New Bond 

Street project to fund these acquisitions and site preparation works at Weymouth 

Bowl, be approved.  

 
12   THE BERKELEY HOTEL 127-129 THE ESPLANADE WEYMOUTH 

 
That the recommendation, as set out in the exempt report, be approved.  
 

13   THE PROPOSED SALE OF 15 AND 16 BRUNSWICK TERRACE, WEYMOUTH 
 
That the recommendations, as set out in the exempt report, be approved.  
 

14   THE PROPOSED SALE OF WILKINS FARM, CANN 
 
That the recommendations, as set out in the exempt report, be approved.  
 

Page 104



 

 
Shareholder Committee for Care Dorset Holdings Ltd Forward Plan 

For the period 1 NOVEMBER 2023 to 29 FEBRUARY 2024  
(Publication date – 10 NOVEMBER 2023) 

Explanatory Note: 
This Forward Plan contains future items to be considered by the Shareholder Committee for the Dorset Centre of Excellence.  It is published 28 days 
before the next meeting of the Committee.  The plan includes items for the meeting including key decisions.  Each item shows if it is ‘open’ to the public 
or to be considered in a private part of the meeting. 
 
Definition of Key Decisions 
Key decisions are defined in Dorset Council's Constitution as decisions  which are likely to - 

(a) to result in the relevant local authority incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the relevant 
local authority’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates (Thresholds - £500k); or 

(b) to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards or electoral divisions in the area of 
the relevant local authority.” 

In determining the meaning of “significant” for these purposes the Council will have regard to any guidance issued by the Secretary of State in 
accordance with section 9Q of the Local Government Act 2000 Act.  Officers will consult with lead members to determine significance and sensitivity. 
 

Committee Membership 2023/24 
Spencer Flower   Leader / Governance, Performance and Communications 
Gary Suttle    Deputy Leader / Finance, Commercial and Capital Strategy 
Jane Somper    Adult Social Care, Health and Housing 
Laura Beddow  Culture and Communities  
Byron Quayle   Children, Education, Skills and Early Help 
 

P
age 105



 

Standing Items for Consideration 
 
 

 

November 
 
 

 

Dorset Council Delegated 
Decisions 
 
Key Decision - No 
Public Access - Open 
 
 

Decision Maker 
Shareholder 
Committee for 
Care Dorset 
Holdings Ltd 
 

Decision Date 
5 Dec 2023 
 

Portfolio Holder for 
People - Adult Social 
Care, Health and 
Housing 

Jonathan Price, Corporate Director for 
Commissioning  
jonathan.price@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 
Executive Director, People - Adults 

Dorset Council Organisational 
Update 
 
Key Decision - No 
Public Access - Part exempt 
 
 

Decision Maker 
Shareholder 
Committee for 
Care Dorset 
Holdings Ltd 
 

Decision Date 
5 Dec 2023 
 

Portfolio Holder for 
People - Adult Social 
Care, Health and 
Housing 

Jonathan Price, Corporate Director for 
Commissioning  
jonathan.price@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 
Executive Director, People - Adults 

Care Dorset Update 
 
Key Decision - No 
Public Access - Part exempt 
 
 

Decision Maker 
Shareholder 
Committee for 
Care Dorset 
Holdings Ltd 
 

Decision Date 
5 Dec 2023 
 

Portfolio Holder for 
People - Adult Social 
Care, Health and 
Housing 

Steve Veevers, Managing Director  
steve.j.veevers@caredorset.gov.uk 
Executive Director, People - Adults 

Report to Full Council on 
performance of the trading 
activities of the company 
 
Key Decision - No 

Decision Maker 
Shareholder 
Committee for 
Care Dorset 
Holdings Ltd 

Decision Date 
5 Dec 2023 
 

Deputy Leader and 
Portfolio Holder for 
Finance, Commercial 
and Capital Strategy 

 
Executive Director, People - Adults 

Subject / Decision Decision Maker Date the 
Decision is 

Due 

Portfolio Holder Officer Contact 

P
age 106



 
Subject / Decision Decision Maker Date the 

Decision is 
Due 

Portfolio Holder Officer Contact 

Public Access - Open 
 

To provide members with an 
overview of the company’s 
performance. 

 
 

February 
 
 

 

Dorset Council Delegated 
Decisions 
 
Key Decision - No 
Public Access - Part exempt 
 
 

Decision Maker 
Shareholder 
Committee for 
Care Dorset 
Holdings Ltd 
 

Decision Date 
27 Feb 2024 
 

Portfolio Holder for 
People - Adult Social 
Care, Health and 
Housing 

Jonathan Price, Corporate Director for 
Commissioning  
jonathan.price@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 
Executive Director, People - Adults 

Dorset Council Organisational 
Update 
 
Key Decision - No 
Public Access - Part exempt 
 
 

Decision Maker 
Shareholder 
Committee for 
Care Dorset 
Holdings Ltd 
 

Decision Date 
27 Feb 2024 
 

Portfolio Holder for 
People - Adult Social 
Care, Health and 
Housing 

Jonathan Price, Corporate Director for 
Commissioning  
jonathan.price@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 
Executive Director, People - Adults 

Care Dorset Update 
 
Key Decision - No 
Public Access - Part exempt 
 
 

Decision Maker 
Shareholder 
Committee for 
Care Dorset 
Holdings Ltd 
 

Decision Date 
27 Feb 2024 
 

Portfolio Holder for 
People - Adult Social 
Care, Health and 
Housing 

 
Executive Director, People - Adults 

Annual Reports 
 
 

 

P
age 107



 
Subject / Decision Decision Maker Date the 

Decision is 
Due 

Portfolio Holder Officer Contact 

Review of the Committee's Terms 
of Reference 
 
Key Decision - Yes 
Public Access - Open 
 
 

Decision Maker 
Shareholder 
Committee for 
Care Dorset 
Holdings Ltd 
 

Decision Date  
 

Deputy Leader and 
Portfolio Holder for 
Finance, Commercial 
and Capital Strategy 

Jonathan Mair, Director of Legal and 
Democratic and Monitoring Officer  
jonathan.mair@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 
Executive Director, People - Adults 

 

P
age 108



 

5 

Private/Exempt Items for Decision 
Each item in the plan above marked as ‘private’ will refer to one of the following paragraphs.  

 
1. Information relating to any individual.   
2. Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual. 
3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information).   
4. Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter arising 

between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders under, the authority.   
5. Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings.   
6. Information which reveals that the shadow council proposes:- 

 (a)  to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed on a person; or 
(b)  to make an order or direction under any enactment.   

7. Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime.   
 
 

P
age 109



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 
The Shareholder Committee for the Dorset Centre of Excellence (DCOE) Forward Plan 

For the period 1 NOVEMBER 2023 to 31 MARCH 2024  
(Publication date – 31 OCTOBER 2023) 

Explanatory Note: 
This Forward Plan contains future items to be considered by the Shareholder Committee for the Dorset Centre of Excellence.  It is published 28 days 
before the next meeting of the Committee.  The plan includes items for the meeting including key decisions.  Each item shows if it is ‘open’ to the public 
or to be considered in a private part of the meeting. 
 
Definition of Key Decisions 
Key decisions are defined in Dorset Council's Constitution as decisions which are likely to - 

(a) to result in the relevant local authority incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the relevant 
local authority’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates (Thresholds - £500k); or 

(b) to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards or electoral divisions in the area of 
the relevant local authority.” 

In determining the meaning of “significant” for these purposes the Council will have regard to any guidance issued by the Secretary of State in 
accordance with section 9Q of the Local Government Act 2000 Act.  Officers will consult with lead members to determine significance and sensitivity. 
 

Committee Membership 2023/24 
Spencer Flower   Leader / Governance, Performance and Communications 
Gary Suttle    Deputy Leader / Finance, Commercial and Capital Strategy 
Jane Somper    Adult Social Care, Health and Housing 
Laura Beddow  Culture and Communities  
Byron Quayle   Children, Education, Skills and Early Help 
 

P
age 111



 

Standing items for consideration 
 
 

 

November 
 
 

 

Dorset Council Delegated 
Decisions 
 
Key Decision - No 
Public Access - Open 
 
 

Decision Maker 
The Shareholder 
Committee for the 
Dorset Centre of 
Excellence 
(DCOE) 
 

Decision Date 
20 Nov 2023 
 

Portfolio Holder for 
People - Children, 
Education, Skills and 
Early Help 

Claire Shiels, Corporate Director - 
Commissioning & Partnerships  
claire.shiels@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 
Executive Director, People - Children 
(Theresa Leavy) 

Dorset Council Commissioning 
Report 
 
Key Decision - No 
Public Access - Part exempt 
 
 

Decision Maker 
The Shareholder 
Committee for the 
Dorset Centre of 
Excellence 
(DCOE) 
 

Decision Date 
20 Nov 2023 
 

Portfolio Holder for 
People - Children, 
Education, Skills and 
Early Help 

Claire Shiels, Corporate Director - 
Commissioning & Partnerships  
claire.shiels@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 
Executive Director, People - Children 
(Theresa Leavy) 

DCoE - Report of Chair of the 
Board of Directors 
 
Key Decision - No 
Public Access - Part exempt 
 
 

Decision Maker 
The Shareholder 
Committee for the 
Dorset Centre of 
Excellence 
(DCOE) 
 

Decision Date 
20 Nov 2023 
 

Portfolio Holder for 
People - Children, 
Education, Skills and 
Early Help 

 
Executive Director, People - Children 
(Theresa Leavy) 

Performance of the Trading 
Activities of the Company 
 
Key Decision - No 

Decision Maker 
The Shareholder 
Committee for the 
Dorset Centre of 

Decision Date 
20 Nov 2023 
 

Portfolio Holder for 
People - Children, 
Education, Skills and 
Early Help 

 
Executive Director, People - Children 
(Theresa Leavy) 

Subject / Decision Decision Maker Date the 
Decision is 

Due 

Portfolio Holder Officer Contact 

P
age 112



 
Subject / Decision Decision Maker Date the 

Decision is 
Due 

Portfolio Holder Officer Contact 

Public Access - Open 
 
 

Excellence 
(DCOE) 
 

Remuneration Policy 
 
Key Decision - No 
Public Access - Fully exempt 
 
 

Decision Maker 
The Shareholder 
Committee for the 
Dorset Centre of 
Excellence 
(DCOE) 
 

Decision Date 
20 Nov 2023 
 
(deferred from 
18 Sept 2023) 

Portfolio Holder for 
People - Children, 
Education, Skills and 
Early Help 

 
Executive Director, People - Children 
(Theresa Leavy) 

March 
 
 

 

Dorset Council Delegated 
Decisions 
 
Key Decision - No 
Public Access - Open 
 
 

Decision Maker 
The Shareholder 
Committee for the 
Dorset Centre of 
Excellence 
(DCOE) 
 

Decision Date 
11 Mar 2024 
 

Councillor Byron 
Quayle 

 
Executive Director, People - Children 
(Theresa Leavy) 

Dorset Council Commissioning 
Report 
 
Key Decision - No 
Public Access - Part exempt 
 
 

Decision Maker 
The Shareholder 
Committee for the 
Dorset Centre of 
Excellence 
(DCOE) 
 

Decision Date 
11 Mar 2024 
 

Councillor Byron 
Quayle 

 
Executive Director, People - Children 
(Theresa Leavy) 

DCoE - Report of the Chair of the 
Board 
 
Key Decision - No 
Public Access - Part exempt 
 

Decision Maker 
The Shareholder 
Committee for the 
Dorset Centre of 
Excellence 
(DCOE) 

Decision Date 
11 Mar 2024 
 

Councillor Byron 
Quayle 

 
Executive Director, People - Children 
(Theresa Leavy) 

P
age 113



 
Subject / Decision Decision Maker Date the 

Decision is 
Due 

Portfolio Holder Officer Contact 

  

Annual Reports 
 
 

 
 

P
age 114



 

5 

Private/Exempt Items for Decision 
Each item in the plan above marked as ‘private’ will refer to one of the following paragraphs.  

 
1. Information relating to any individual.   
2. Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual. 
3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information).   
4. Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter arising 

between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders under, the authority.   
5. Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings.   
6. Information which reveals that the shadow council proposes:- 

 (a)  to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed on a person; or 
(b)  to make an order or direction under any enactment.   

7. Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime.   
 
 

P
age 115



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	6 Budget and Medium-Term Financial Plan Strategy report
	Appendix 1 - Draft Cabinet report on budget and MTFP strategy

	7 Place and Resources Scrutiny Committee Work Programme
	8 Executive Forward Plans
	Decisions , 07/11/2023 Cabinet
	Decisions , 05/12/2023 Cabinet
	Forward plan Nov 2023 - Feb 2024 Shareholder Committee for Care Dorset Holdings Ltd
	Forward plan November 2023 - March 2024 The Shareholder Committee for the Dorset Centre of Excellence


